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DEAR SHAREHOLDER

Another one to the record books!  2021 was a record breaking earnings year for
Chesapeake Financial Shares – our fifth in a row.  This is a testament to our employees’
commitment to serve the financial needs of our community.  The interdependence we

have with our communities is evidenced by the deep roots we have developed and, as a result, 
our growth.

Our net income was $15,009,514 for 2021 representing a 27.7% increase over 2020.  Coming
off of total asset growth in 2020 of 26%, we increased another 15% in 2021 ending the year at
$1,385,816,175.  Our consistently strong loan demand, both commercial and mortgage, fueled
loan growth despite large Paycheck Protection Program loan payoffs.  As always, the stellar
performance of our investment portfolio added significantly to our strong performance.  Our
specialty lines of business gave us added revenue diversification to supplement our strong core
banking performance.

2021’s passings were felt all that much more because of the collective pall the pandemic brought
over our country.  Desmond Tutu, Bob Dole, Stephen Sondheim, Colin Powell, Betty White,
Eric Carle, Rush Limbaugh and Hank Aaron all contributed to the ongoing mosaic of our world,
and their absences will be felt.

Our Annual Report cover reflects the “Main Streets” of the communities we serve.  If nothing
else, the pandemic has shined a light on the genuine dependence our employees, our company
and our communities have upon each other, all inuring to the benefit of you our shareholder.
Please join us Friday, April 1st, for our Annual Shareholders Meeting.

I look forward to seeing you there.

Sincerely,

Jeffrey M. Szyperski
Chairman, CEO & President
Chesapeake Financial Shares, Inc.
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SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

(Dollars in thousands except ratios and per share amounts)
Results of Operations
Interest income $ 44,901 $ 38,563 $ 37,673 $ 32,546 $ 29,912 
Interest expense 3,346 5,051 8,140 4,975 3,777 
Net interest income 41,555 33,512 29,533 27,571 26,135 
Provision for 
(reversal of ) loan losses (400) 1,950 525 525 950 

Net interest income after
provision for loan losses 41,955 31,562 29,008 27,046 25,185 

Noninterest income 19,312 19,624 20,584 18,508 27,310 
Noninterest expense 43,954 37,391 36,288 33,356 41,127 
Income before income taxes 17,313 13,795 13,304 12,198 11,368 
Income tax expense 2,303 2,046 1,905 1,378 2,419 
Net income $ 15,010 $ 11,749 $ 11,399 $ 10,820 $ 8,949 

Financial Condition
Total assets $ 1,385,816 $ 1,204,733 $ 958,306 $ 854,766 $ 785,231 
Total deposits 1,124,972 1,019,501 839,116 749,181 675,458 
Net loans 656,786 544,439 531,113 506,204 485,174 
Subordinated notes 20,000 — — — — 
Short-term debt 99,046 50,000 — — 10,006 
Trust preferred capital notes 5,155 5,155 5,155 5,155 5,155 
Shareholders' equity 126,137 122,666 105,443 92,726 86,762 
Average assets 1,311,403 1,112,051 932,397 820,677 774,680 
Average shareholders' equity 126,454 114,443 102,821 89,659 84,096 

Key Financial Ratios
Return on average assets 1.14% 1.06% 1.22% 1.32% 1.16%
Return on average equity 11.87% 10.27% 11.09% 12.07% 10.64%
Cash dividends paid as a 
percent of net income 16.99% 20.77% 21.09% 20.79% 23.09%

Per Share Data**
Net income, diluted $ 3.11 $ 2.40 $ 2.29 $ 2.18 $ 1.80 
Cash dividends declared $ 0.53 $ 0.50 $ 0.49 $ 0.46 $ 0.43 
Book value $ 26.66 $ 25.40 $ 21.36 $ 18.86 $ 17.77 

**On July 19, 2019, the Board of Directors approved a 6-for-5 stock dividend of CFS’s common stock paid on October 15,
2019.  All per share information for all periods presented has been retroactively restated to reflect the stock dividend.



To the Board of Directors and Shareholders
Chesapeake Financial Shares, Inc.
Kilmarnock, Virginia

Opinion
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Chesapeake Financial Shares, Inc. and its subsidiaries (the “Company”), which

comprise the consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income,
changes in stockholders’ equity, and cash flows for the years then ended, and the related notes to the consolidated financial statements (collectively,
the financial statements).

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its operations and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with accounting principles
generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities

under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are
required to be independent of the Company and to meet our other ethical responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements
relating to our audits. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with accounting principles

generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the
preparation and fair presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate,
that raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern within one year after the date that the financial statements are
issued (or within one year after the date that the financial statements are available to be issued, when applicable).

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether

due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute
assurance and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered material if there is a substantial likelihood
that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements.

In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we:
• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit.
• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, and design and perform

audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal control. Accordingly, no
such opinion is expressed.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by management,
as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the financial statements.

• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time.

Other Information Included in the Annual Report
Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other information comprises the information included

in the annual report but does not include the financial statements and our auditor's report thereon. Our opinion on the financial statements does not
cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and consider whether a material
inconsistency exists between the other information and the financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially
misstated. If, based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other information exists, we are required
to describe it in our report.

We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control–related matters that we identified during the audit.

Raleigh, North Carolina
February 11, 2022
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

December 31, 
2021 2020

Assets
Cash and due from banks $ 18,600,125 $ 14,350,735 
Interest-bearing deposits in banks and federal funds sold 2,189,615 55,300,827 
Securities available for sale, at fair value 600,644,067 454,175,019 
Other investments, at cost 5,547,600 4,215,000 
Loans held for sale 618,000 2,533,000 
Small Business Administration Payroll Protection Program  
("SBA-PPP") loans receivable, net of fees 2,642,603 51,937,538 

Loans, net of allowance for loan losses of $6,793,400 in 2021
and $7,279,764 in 2020 656,785,773 544,439,093 

Cash management accounts, net of allowance of $1,426,204 in 2021
and $1,936,495 in 2020 26,377,378 16,880,938 

Commercial mortgage loan repurchasing facilities 5,084,305 — 
Premises and equipment, net 22,779,715 20,761,327 
Accrued interest receivable 6,253,845 6,260,281 
Bank-owned life insurance 17,331,209 17,676,168 
Bank-owned annuity contract 3,616,990 3,613,769 
Foreclosed assets 1,278,062 4,211,862 
Other assets 16,066,888 8,377,576 

Total assets $ 1,385,816,175 $ 1,204,733,133 

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity
Deposits:
Demand accounts $ 313,857,448 $ 267,473,159 
Savings and interest-bearing demand deposits 671,804,955 578,220,464 
Certificates of deposit
Denominations less than $250,000 115,942,075 138,501,902 
Denominations of $250,000 or more 23,367,029 35,305,020 
Total deposits 1,124,971,507 1,019,500,545 

Trust preferred capital notes 5,155,000 5,155,000 
Short-term debt 99,046,000 50,000,000 
Subordinated notes 20,000,000 — 
Accrued interest payable 112,818 197,578 
Accrued expenses and other liabilities 10,393,963 7,213,527 

Total liabilities 1,259,679,288 1,082,066,650 
Shareholders' equity:
Preferred stock, par value $1 per share; authorized
50,000 shares; no shares outstanding $ —   $ —   

Common stock, voting, par value $5 per share; authorized
5,760,000 shares; 4,729,475 and 4,828,674 issued and  
outstanding at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively 23,484,300 23,988,220 

Common stock, nonvoting, par value $5 per share; authorized
635,000 shares; no shares outstanding —   —   

Additional paid-in capital 14,806,975 17,667,342 
Retained earnings 76,815,064 64,355,386 
Accumulated other comprehensive income 11,030,548 16,655,535 

Total shareholders' equity 126,136,887 122,666,483 
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity $ 1,385,816,175 $ 1,204,733,133 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

Years Ended December 31, 
2021 2020

Interest and Dividend Income
Interest and fees on loans $ 32,935,384 $ 28,919,575 
Interest on interest-bearing deposits and federal funds sold 35,643 153,636 
Interest and dividends on securities available for sale:
Taxable 7,142,319 5,489,443 
Nontaxable 4,604,841 3,850,958 
Dividends 182,396 149,505 

Total interest and dividend income 44,900,583 38,563,117 

Interest Expense
Savings and interest-bearing demand deposits 566,309 1,275,626 
Certificates of deposit 2,000,037 3,394,921 
Short-term debt 147,867 108,466 
Subordinated notes and trust preferred capital notes 631,600 271,804 

Total interest expense 3,345,813 5,050,817 
Net interest income 41,554,770 33,512,300 

Provision for (reversal of ) loan losses (400,004) 1,949,996 
Net interest income after provision for loan losses 41,954,774 31,562,304 

Noninterest Income
Trust and wealth management income 4,391,806 4,044,932 
Service charges 770,347 776,790 
Net gain on sales of securities available for sale 730,035 1,221,057 
Mortgage banking income 2,776,845 3,434,327 
Merchant services income, net 4,061,549 3,703,001 
Cash management fee income 2,025,501 2,566,457 
Other income 4,556,125 3,877,607 

Total noninterest income 19,312,208 19,624,171 

Noninterest Expenses
Salaries and benefits 23,760,395 22,673,519 
Occupancy expenses 3,717,489 3,094,291 
Net loss on foreclosed assets 399,989 66,981 
Provision for cash management account losses 1,845,000 290,000 
Other expenses 14,231,308 11,266,097 

Total noninterest expenses 43,954,181 37,390,888 
Income before income taxes 17,312,801 13,795,587 

Income tax expense 2,303,287 2,046,196 

Net income $ 15,009,514 $ 11,749,391 

Earnings per common share, basic $ 3.12 $ 2.41 

Earnings per common share, diluted $ 3.11 $ 2.40 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



Years Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Net income $ 15,009,514 $ 11,749,391
Other comprehensive income:
Gross unrealized gains (losses) on securities available for sale (8,116,650) 14,038,392
Deferred tax income (expense) 1,704,497 (2,948,062)

(6,412,153) 11,090,330

Unrealized gains on cash flow hedge 1,726,449 281,215
Deferred tax expense (362,555) (59,055)

1,363,894 222,160
Less:
Reclassification of gains recognized in net income (730,035) (1,221,057)
Deferred tax expense 153,307 256,422

(576,728) (964,635)

Total other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax (5,624,987) 10,347,855
Comprehensive income $ 9,384,527 $ 22,097,246 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF 
CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years Ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Accumulated
Common Additional Other
Stock, Paid-In Retained Comprehensive
Voting Capital Earnings Income Total

Balance, December 31, 2019 $ 24,510,555 $ 19,578,673 $ 55,046,285 $ 6,307,681 $105,443,194 
Net income — — 11,749,391 — 11,749,391 
Other comprehensive income — — — 10,347,854 10,347,854 
Exercise of stock options 114,330 78,940 — — 193,270 
Vesting of restricted stock 85,450 (85,450) — — — 
Stock awards surrendered in cashless exercise (73,215) (221,326) — — (294,541)
Issuance of common stock for services 34,380 132,707 — — 167,087 
Repurchase of common stock (683,280) (2,162,107) — — (2,845,387)
Stock-based compensation — 345,905 — — 345,905 
Cash dividends ($0.50 per share) — — (2,440,290) — (2,440,290)

Balance, December 31, 2020 $ 23,988,220 $ 17,667,342 $ 64,355,386 $ 16,655,535 $122,666,483 
Net income — — 15,009,514 — 15,009,514 
Other comprehensive loss — — — (5,624,987) (5,624,987)
Exercise of stock options 84,670 71,150 — — 155,820 
Vesting of restricted stock 76,940 (76,940) — — — 
Stock awards surrendered in cashless exercise (54,600) (213,300) — — (267,900)
Issuance of common stock for services 43,515 151,519 — — 195,034 
Repurchase of common stock (654,445) (3,142,212) — — (3,796,657)
Stock-based compensation — 349,416 — — 349,416 
Cash dividends ($0.53 per share) — — (2,549,836) — (2,549,836)

Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 23,484,300 $ 14,806,975 $ 76,815,064 $ 11,030,548 $126,136,887 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements



C H E S A P E A K E  F I N A N C I A L  S H A R E S ,  I N C .
8

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

Years Ended December 31,
2021 2020

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net income $ 15,009,514 $ 11,749,391 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 1,588,646 1,509,878 
Provision for (reversal of) loan losses (400,004) 1,949,996 
Provision for cash management account losses 1,845,000 290,000 
Deferred income tax expense (benefit) 122,755 (225,479)
Amortization of investment securities, net 3,750,820 2,161,828 
Net gain on sales of securities available for sale (730,035) (1,221,057)
Net loss on foreclosed assets 399,989 66,981 
Stock-based compensation 349,416 345,905 
Origination of loans held for sale (71,839,370) (127,163,719)
Proceeds from sale of loans 75,794,642 128,879,020 
Gain on sale of loans (2,040,272) (2,767,651)
Decrease (increase) in bank-owned life insurance 344,959 (458,873)
Increase in bank-owned annuities (3,221) (20,824)
Changes in other assets and liabilities:
Decrease (increase) in accrued interest receivable 6,436 (2,680,202)
Increase in other assets (3,807,837) (2,943,980)
Decrease in accrued interest payable (84,760) (188,574)
Increase (decrease)  in accrued expenses and other liabilities 4,552,930 (392,402)
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 24,859,608 $ 8,890,238 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases of securities available for sale $ (213,903,215) $ (211,685,887)
Proceeds from sales and calls of securities available for sale 4,384,105 17,169,193 
Proceeds from maturities and paydowns of securities available for sale 51,182,592 45,255,151 
Purchases of other investments, net (1,332,600) (2,218,600)
Proceeds from sale of foreclosed assets 2,533,811 106,089 
Decrease (increase) in SBA-PPP loans receivable, net 49,294,935 (51,937,538)
Net increase in loans (111,946,676) (15,276,103)
Net (increase) decrease in cash management accounts (11,341,440) 10,203,170 
Purchase of residual portfolio (2,057,786) —   
Purchase of commercial mortgage loan repurchase facility (5,084,305) —   
Purchase of premises and equipment (3,509,240) (4,588,427)

Net cash used in investing activities $ (241,779,819) $ (212,972,952)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Years Ended December 31, 
2021 2020

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Net increase in demand accounts, interest-bearing
demand accounts and savings accounts $ 139,968,780 $ 212,221,870 

Net decrease in certificates of deposits (34,497,818) (31,836,911)
Exercise of stock options 155,820 193,270 
Repurchase/surrender of common stock (4,064,557) (3,139,928)
Cash dividends (2,549,836) (2,440,290)
Proceeds from issuance of subordinated notes 20,000,000 — 
Purchase of federal funds 12,046,000 — 
Increase in short-term debt 37,000,000 50,000,000 

Net cash provided by financing activities $ 168,058,389 $ 224,998,011 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents $ (48,861,822) $ 20,915,297 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 69,651,562 48,736,265 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year $ 20,789,740 $ 69,651,562 

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information
Cash paid during the year for:
Interest $ 3,430,573 $ 5,239,391 

Income taxes $ 2,137,000 $ 2,114,000 

Supplemental Schedule of Noncash Investing and
Financing Activities
Unrealized gain (loss) on securities available for sale $ (8,846,685) $ 12,817,335 
Unrealized gain on cash flow hedge 1,726,449 281,215 

Issuance of common stock for services $ 195,034 $ 167,087 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Note 1.  Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
General

Chesapeake Financial Shares, Inc. (“CFS” or “Company”) is a bank holding company whose principal business activity
consists of ownership in Chesapeake Bank (the “Bank”) and Chesapeake Wealth Management, Inc. (“CWM”).  The
consolidated financial statements include the accounts of CFS and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, except for CFS Capital
Trust II (the “Trust”), which is not a consolidated subsidiary of the Company.  The subordinated debt payable to the Trust by
the Company is reported as a liability of the Company.  All significant intercompany accounts have been eliminated.

Subsequent Events

Subsequent events have been considered through February 11, 2022, the same date on which these consolidated
financial statements were issued.

Significant Accounting Policies

The accounting and reporting policies of CFS are in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America and conform to general practices within the banking industry.  The more significant of these
policies are summarized below.

Securities

Debt securities that management has the positive intent and ability to hold to maturity are classified as “held to
maturity” and recorded at amortized cost.  Equity securities are recorded at fair value with changes in fair value included
in earnings.  Debt securities not classified as held to maturity or trading are classified as “available for sale” and recorded at
fair value, with unrealized gains and losses excluded from earnings and reported in other comprehensive income.  Purchase
premiums and discounts are recognized in interest income using the interest method over the terms of the securities.
Gains and losses on the sale of securities are recorded on the trade date and are determined using the specific identification
method.  CFS classifies all debt securities as available for sale.

Impairment of securities occurs when the fair value of a security is less than its amortized cost.  For debt securities,
impairment is considered other-than-temporary (“OTTI”) and recognized in its entirety in net income if either (a) the
intent is to sell the security or (b) it is more-likely-than-not that it will be necessary to sell the security prior to recovery of
its amortized cost.  If, however, management’s intent is not to sell the security and it is not more than likely that
management will be required to sell the security before recovery, management must determine what portion of the
impairment is attributable to credit loss, which occurs when the amortized cost of the security exceeds the present value of
the cash flows expected to be collected from the security.  If there is no credit loss, there is no other-than-temporary
impairment.  If there is a credit loss, other-than-temporary impairment exists and the credit loss must be recognized in net
income and the remaining portion of impairment must be recognized in other comprehensive income. Equity securities
are reported at fair value and changes in fair value are included in consolidated earnings.  Management regularly reviews
each security for other-than-temporary impairment based on criteria that includes the extent to which cost exceeds market
price, the duration of that market decline, the financial health of and specific prospects for the issuer, the best estimate of
the present value of cash flows expected to be collected from debt securities, the intention with regards to holding the
security to maturity, and the likelihood that CFS would be required to sell the security before recovery.

Small Business Administration Paycheck Protection Program

The Small Business Administration Paycheck Protection Program (“SBA-PPP”) is one of the centerpieces of the
Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (the “CARES Act”), which was passed on March 27, 2020 in
response to the outbreak of coronavirus (“COVID-19”) and was supplemented with subsequent legislation.  Overseen by
the United States Treasury Department, the SBA-PPP offered cash flow assistance to nonprofit and small business
employers through guaranteed loans for expenses incurred between February 15, 2020 and August 8, 2020.  A third
round of SBA-PPP loans were authorized on December 27, 2020 with applications accepted between January 11 and
May 31, 2021.  Borrowers are eligible for forgiveness of principal and accrued interest on SBA-PPP loans to the extent
that the proceeds are used to cover eligible payroll cost, interest cost, rent and utility cost over a period between 8 and 24
weeks after the loan is made as long as the borrower retains its employees and their compensation levels.  The CARES Act
authorizes the SBA to fully guarantee these loans.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Due to the unique nature of these provisions, SBA-PPP loans have been disclosed as a separate balance sheet item.
Origination fees received by the SBA are capitalized into the carrying amount of the loans.  The deferred fee income, net
of origination costs, is recognized over the life of the loan as an adjustment to yield using the effective interest method.
SBA-PPP loans receivable as of December 31, 2021 totaled $2.7 million with $97 thousand in net unearned fees and
generated $4 million of interest income during the year ended December 31, 2021.  SBA-PPP loans receivable as of
December 31, 2020 totaled $54.1 million with $2.1 million in net unearned fees and generated $777,003 of interest
income during the year ended December 31, 2020.

Loans

The Bank grants mortgage, commercial, and consumer loans to customers.  A substantial portion of the loan
portfolio is represented by mortgage loans and commercial real estate throughout the Northern Neck, Middle Peninsula,
Williamsburg, James City County, and Richmond areas of Virginia.  The ability of the Bank's debtors to honor their
contracts is dependent upon the real estate and general economic conditions in these areas.

The Bank’s recorded investments in loans are stated at face value, net of unamortized premiums and discounts and
charge-offs.  Interest is computed by methods which result in level rates of return on principal.  Nonrefundable loan fees
and direct loan origination costs are recognized in operations when received and incurred.  The impact of this
methodology is not significantly different from recognizing the net of the fees and costs over the contractual life of the
related loan.

The Bank analyzes its loan portfolio by segment.  Segments are based on the level at which the allowance for loan
losses is calculated and monitored.  The Bank’s loan segments are commercial, commercial – real estate, consumer – non
real estate, and residential – real estate.  The Bank further segregates each segment of the loan portfolio into classes based
on how each loan was initially recorded.  Classes are a level of detail that appropriately exhibits the risks inherent in the
loan portfolio.

The loan portfolio is segmented based on risk characteristics.  Particular characteristics associated with each segment
are detailed below:

Commercial:  Commercial loans include both secured and unsecured loans for working capital, expansion, and other
business purposes.  Short-term working capital loans are secured by business assets.  The Bank also makes term
commercial loans secured by equipment and real estate.  Lending decisions are based on an evaluation of the financial
strength, cash flow, management and credit history of the borrower, and the quality of the collateral securing the loan.
With few exceptions, the Bank requires personal guarantees and secondary sources of repayment.  Commercial loans
generally provide greater yields and re-price more frequently than other types of loans, such as real estate loans.

Commercial – Real Estate: Loans secured by commercial real estate also carry risks associated with the success of the
business and ability to generate a positive cash flow sufficient to service debts.  Real estate security diminishes risks only to
the extent that a market exists for the subject collateral.  Some real estate secured construction loans carry risks that a
project will not be completed as scheduled and budgeted and that the value of the collateral may, at any point, be less
than the principal amount of the loan.  

Consumer – Non Real Estate: Consumer non real estate loans carry risks associated with the continued
creditworthiness of the borrower and the value of the collateral, such as automobiles which may depreciate more rapidly
than other assets.  In addition, these loans may be unsecured.  Consumer loans are more likely than real estate loans to be
immediately affected in an adverse manner by job loss, divorce, illness, personal bankruptcy, or other life events.

Residential – Real Estate: Consumer real estate loans carry risks associated with the continued creditworthiness of
the borrower and changes in the value of the collateral.

Loans of each class are placed on nonaccrual status when a loan is specifically determined to be impaired or when
principal or interest is delinquent for 90 days or more.  Any unpaid interest previously accrued on those loans is reversed
from income.  Interest income generally is not recognized on specific impaired loans unless the likelihood of further loss is
remote.  Interest payments received on such loans are applied as a reduction of the loan principal balance.  Generally, the
Bank will return a loan to accrual status when all delinquent interest and principal become current and remain current 
for six consecutive months under the terms of the loan agreement or the loan is well-secured and in the process of
collection.



Mortgage loans held for resale are stated at the lower of cost or market on an individual loan basis.  Loan discounts
and origination fees received on loans held for resale are deferred until the related loans are sold to third party investors.
Gains are recognized at the time of sale.

Allowance for Loan Losses

The allowance for loan losses is established as losses are estimated to have occurred through a provision for loan losses
charged to earnings.  Loans of each segment are fully or partially charged off against the allowance when the Bank deems
the amount to be uncollectible.  General conditions for charge-off include repayment schedules that are deemed to be
protracted beyond a reasonable timeframe, the loan has been classified as a loss either internally or by regulators, or the
loan is 180 days past due unless well-secured and in the process of collection.  Subsequent recoveries, if any, are credited to
the allowance.

The allowance for loan losses is evaluated on a regular basis by management and is based upon management’s periodic
review of the collectability of the loans in light of historical experience, the nature and volume of the loan portfolio,
adverse situations that may affect the borrower’s ability to repay, estimated value of any underlying collateral, and
prevailing economic conditions.  This evaluation is inherently subjective as it requires estimates that are susceptible to
significant revision as more information becomes available.

The allowance consists of allocated and general components.  The allocated component relates to loans that are
classified as impaired.  For those loans that are classified as impaired, an allowance is established when the discounted cash
flows (or the collateral value or observable market price less costs to liquidate) of the impaired loan are lower than the
carrying value of that loan.  The general component covers non-classified loans and is based on historical charge-off by
segment and expected default derived from the Bank’s loss experience by loan type.  Other adjustments may be made to
the allowance based on an assessment of internal or external influences on credit quality that are not fully reflected in the
historical loss or risk rating data.  Adjustments to the general component of the allowance are made for each segment
based on management’s assessment of the state of the economy, delinquencies, exceptions to loan underwriting,
monitoring policies, various trends, and local unemployment.  There were no significant changes to the Bank’s allowance
methodology during the current year.

A loan in each class is considered impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that the
Bank will be unable to collect the scheduled payments of principal or interest when due according to the contractual
terms of the loan agreement.  Factors considered by management in determining impairment include payment status,
collateral value, and the probability of collecting scheduled principal and interest payments when due.  Impairment is
measured on a loan-by-loan basis by either the present value of expected future cash flows discounted at the loan’s effective
interest rate, the loan’s observable market price, or the fair value of the collateral.

Troubled Debt Restructurings

In situations where, for economic or legal reasons related to a borrower’s financial condition, management may grant
a concession to the borrower that it would not otherwise consider, the related loan is classified as a troubled debt
restructuring (TDR).  Management strives to identify borrowers in financial difficulty early and work with them to
modify their loan to more affordable terms before the loan reaches nonaccrual status.  These modified terms may include
rate reductions, principal forgiveness, payment forbearance and other actions intended to minimize the economic loss and
to avoid foreclosure or repossession of the collateral.  In cases where borrowers are granted new terms that provide for a
reduction of either interest or principal, management measures any impairment on the restructuring as noted above for
impaired loans.

The CARES Act allows banks to elect to suspend requirements under accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“GAAP”) for loan modifications related to the COVID-19 pandemic (for loans that were not
more than 30 days past due as of December 31, 2019) that would otherwise be categorized as a TDR, including
impairment for accounting purposes, until the earlier of 60 days after the termination date of the national emergency or
December 31, 2020.  Federal banking agencies are required to defer to the determination of the banks making such
suspension.  Refer to Note 4 in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements for additional detail.
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Commercial Mortgage Loan Repurchase Facilities

Commercial mortgage loan repurchase facilities are accounted for as collateralized financing transactions as the terms
of purchase agreements do not qualify for sale accounting and are therefore recorded at the amount of cash advanced.
Interest earned is recorded in interest income. Commercial mortgage loan repurchase facilities are collateralized by
commercial mortgage loans. The fair value of collateral is monitored daily and additional collateral is obtained or excess
collateral is returned for margin maintenance purposes. Collateral accepted under commercial mortgage loan repurchase
facilities transactions is not permitted by contract to be sold or repledged.

Premises and Equipment

Land is carried at cost.  Premises and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation.  Depreciation is
computed using both straight-line and accelerated methods over the assets' estimated useful lives.  Estimated useful lives
range from 10 to 39 years for buildings and leasehold improvements and 3 to 7 years for furniture, fixtures, and
equipment.

The Company determines if an arrangement is a lease at inception.  Operating leases are included in operating lease
right-of-use (“ROU”) assets and other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets.  Finance leases are included in
premises and equipment and other liabilities on our consolidated balance sheets.  The amortization of the finance leases
are included in occupancy expense on the consolidated income statement.  The interest expense on finance leases is
included in short-term debt on the consolidated income statement

ROU assets represent the Company’s right to use an underlying asset for the lease term and lease liabilities represent
the Company’s obligation to make lease payments arising from the lease.  Operating lease ROU assets and liabilities are
recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term.  Most of the
Company’s leases do not provide an implicit rate, as such an incremental borrowing rate is developed based on the
information available at commencement date in determining the present value of lease payments has been used.  The
operating lease ROU asset also includes any lease payments made and excludes lease incentives.  The lease terms may
include options to extend or terminate the lease when it is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised.  Lease
expense for lease payments is recognized on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The Company has lease agreements with lease and non-lease components, which are generally accounted for
separately.  For certain leases, the lease and non-lease components are accounted for as a single lease component.
Additionally, for certain equipment leases, a portfolio approach is applied to effectively account for the operating lease
ROU assets and liabilities.

Foreclosed Assets

Foreclosed assets are recorded at the time of foreclosure at their fair value, net of estimated costs to sell.  At
foreclosure, any excess of the loan balance over the fair value of the property, less cost to sell, is charged to the allowance
for loan losses.  Such carrying value is periodically reevaluated and written down as a direct expense if there is an indicated
decline in the net realizable value.  Costs to bring a property to salable condition are capitalized up to the fair value of the
property, while costs to maintain a property in salable condition are expensed as incurred.

Transfers of Financial Assets

Transfers of financial assets are accounted for as sales, when control over the assets has been surrendered.  Control
over transferred assets is deemed to be surrendered when (a) the assets have been isolated from CFS – put presumptively
beyond the reach of the transferor and its creditors, even in bankruptcy or other receivership, (b) the transferee obtains the
right (free of conditions that constrain it from taking advantage of that right) to pledge or exchange the transferred assets,
and (c) CFS does not maintain effective control over the transferred assets through an agreement to repurchase them
before their maturity or the ability to unilaterally cause the holder to return specific assets.



Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

The Company records all derivatives on the balance sheet at fair value.  The accounting for changes in the fair value
of derivatives depends on the intended use of the derivative and the resulting designation.  Derivatives used to hedge the
exposure to changes in the fair value of an asset, liability, or firm commitment attributable to a particular risk, such as
interest rate risk, are considered fair value hedges.  Derivatives used to hedge the exposure to variability in expected future
cash flows, or other types of forecasted transactions, are considered cash flow hedges.

For derivatives designated as cash flow hedges, the effective portion of changes in the fair value of the derivative is
initially reported in other comprehensive income (outside of earnings) and subsequently reclassified to earnings when the
hedged transaction affects earnings, and the ineffective portion of the change in the fair value of the derivative is
recognized directly in earnings.  The Company assesses the effectiveness of the hedging relationship by comparing the
changes in cash flows of the derivative hedging instrument with the changes in cash flows of the designated hedged
transactions.  The Company does not have any derivatives designated as fair value hedges.

The Company’s objective in using derivatives is to add stability to net interest income and to manage its exposure to
adverse changes in interest rates.  To accomplish this objective, the Company uses an interest rate cap as part of its
strategy.

Income Taxes

The income tax accounting guidance results in two components of income tax expense:  current and deferred.
Current income tax expense reflects taxes to be paid or refunded for the current period by applying provisions of the
enacted tax law to the taxable income or excess deductions over revenues.  CFS determines deferred income taxes using
the liability (or balance sheet) method.  Under this method, the net deferred tax asset or liability is based on the tax effects
of the differences between book and tax bases of assets and liabilities, and enacted changes in tax rates and laws are
recognized in the period in which they occur.

Deferred income tax expense results from changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities between periods.  Deferred tax
assets are recognized if it is more-likely-than-not, based on the technical merits, that the tax position will be realized or
sustained under examination.  The term more-likely-than-not means a likelihood of more than 50 percent; the terms
examined and upon examination also include resolution of the related appeals or litigation processes, if any.  A tax
position that meets the more-likely-than-not recognition threshold is initially and subsequently measured as the largest
amount of tax benefit that has a greater than 50 percent likelihood of being realized upon settlement with a taxing
authority that has full knowledge of all relevant information.  The determination of whether or not a tax position has met
the more-likely-than-not threshold considers the facts, circumstances, and information available at the reporting date and
is subject to management’s judgment.  Deferred tax assets are reduced by a valuation allowance if, based on the weight of
the evidence available, it is more-likely-than-not that some portion or all of a deferred tax asset will not be realized.  

CFS accounts for income taxes in accordance with the accounting guidance related to uncertainty in income taxes,
which sets out a consistent framework to determine the appropriate level of tax reserves to maintain for uncertain tax
positions.  

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, CFS considers cash equivalents to include cash on hand,
amounts due from banks, interest-bearing deposits, and federal funds sold.

Advertising Costs

CFS follows the policy of charging the production costs of advertising to expense as incurred.
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Use of Estimates

In preparing consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America, management is required to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities as of the date of the balance sheet and reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the
reporting period.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.  Material estimates that are particularly susceptible to
significant change in the near term relate to the determination of the allowance for loan losses, the valuation of deferred
tax assets, other-than-temporary impairments of securities, and the valuation of foreclosed assets.

Earnings Per Common Share

Basic earnings per common share represents income available to common shareholders divided by the weighted-
average number of common shares outstanding during the period.  Diluted earnings per common share reflects additional
common shares that would have been outstanding if dilutive potential common shares had been issued, as well as any
adjustment to income that would result from the assumed issuance.  Potential common shares that may be issued by CFS
related solely to outstanding stock options and restricted stock, are determined using the treasury stock method.  

Cash Management Accounts

CFS purchases trade accounts receivable from customers.  These receivables are stated at face value, net of discounts
and an allowance for losses.  CFS retains reserves against these customer balances in a separate liability account to cover
unpaid receivables, returns, allowances and other adjustments.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation accounting requires that the compensation cost relating to stock-based payment
transactions be recognized in financial statements.  That cost will be measured based on the grant date fair value of the
equity or liability instruments issued.  The stock compensation accounting guidance covers a wide range of stock-based
compensation arrangements including stock options, restricted share plans, and performance-based awards.

The stock-based compensation accounting guidance requires that compensation cost for all stock awards be calculated
and recognized over the employees’ service periods, generally defined as the vesting period.  Compensation cost is
recognized on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period for the award.  A Black-Scholes model is used to
estimate the fair value of stock options, while the fair value of the Company’s common stock at the date of grant is used
for restricted awards.  There were no options granted in 2020 or 2021.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

Fair values of financial instruments are estimated using relevant market information and other assumptions, as more
fully discussed in Note 20.  Fair value estimates involve uncertainties and matters of significant judgment.  Changes in
assumptions or in market conditions significantly affect the estimates.

Assets Under Management

Securities and other property held by Chesapeake Wealth Management in a fiduciary or agency capacity are not assets
of CFS and are not included in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

ASU 2016-13:

In June 2016, the FASB issued guidance to change the accounting for credit losses and modify the impairment model
for certain debt securities.  The guidance requires a financial asset (including trade receivables) measured at amortized cost
basis to be presented at the net amount expected to be collected.  Thus, the income statement will reflect the
measurement of credit losses for newly-recognized financial assets as well as the expected increases or decreases of expected
credit losses that have taken place during the period.  The amendments will be in effect for the Company for fiscal years
beginning after December 15, 2022 including interim periods within those fiscal years.  Early adoption is permitted for all
organizations for periods beginning after December 15, 2018.  The Company is currently in the process of evaluating the
impact of adoption of this guidance on the financial statements.



ASU 2019-10:

In November 2019, the FASB issued guidance to defer the effective dates for private companies, not-for-profit
organizations, and certain smaller reporting companies applying standards on current expected credit losses (CECL),
leases, and hedging.  The new effective dates will be CECL:  fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2022 including
interim periods within those fiscal years.  The Company does not expect these amendments to have a material effect on its
financial statements.

ASU 2020-03: 

In March 2020, the FASB issued guidance that makes narrow-scope improvements to various aspects of the financial
instrument guidance, including the current expected credit losses (CECL) guidance issued in 2016. The amendments
should be adopted in 2023.  Early application is permitted. For entities that have not yet adopted the guidance in ASU
2016-13, the effective dates and the transition requirements for these amendments are the same as the effective date and
transition requirements in ASU 2016-13. The Company does not expect these amendments to have a material effect on
its financial statements.

Other accounting standards that have been issued or proposed by the FASB or other standards-setting bodies are not
expected to have a material impact on the Company’s financial position, results of operations or cash flows.

Reclassification

Certain items for prior years have been reclassified to conform to the current year presentation.  Such reclassifications
had no effect on net income, total assets or shareholders’ equity as previously reported.

Note 2.  Securities
Amortized cost and fair values of securities available for sale as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, are as follows:

2021
Gross Gross 

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

US Treasury $ 11,892,333 $ 74,346 $ (29,176) $ 11,937,503 
Securities of state and
political subdivisions 361,291,152 14,654,427 (2,649,585) 373,295,994 

SBA loan pooled securities 2,863,069 8,729 — 2,871,798 
Mortgage-backed securities
Agency 62,691,282 868,719 (612,374) 62,947,627 
Non-agency 99,858,493 506,272 (873,165) 99,491,600 

Other debt securities 50,092,683 306,537 (299,675) 50,099,545 
Total $ 588,689,012 $ 16,419,030 $ (4,463,975) $ 600,644,067 

2020
Gross Gross 

Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Fair
Cost Gains Losses Value

Securities of state and
political subdivisions $ 257,265,516 $ 17,891,488 $ (112,330) $ 275,044,674 

SBA loan pooled securities 2,095,421 513 (5,172) 2,090,762 
Mortgage-backed securities
Agency 46,521,787 1,466,298 (24,061) 47,964,024 
Non-agency 84,351,671 2,191,922 (423,421) 86,120,172 

Other debt securities 43,138,884 152,281 (335,778) 42,955,387 
Total $ 433,373,279 $ 21,702,502 $ (900,762) $ 454,175,019 
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The amortized cost and fair value of securities available for sale as of December 31, 2021, by contractual maturity are
shown below.  Expected maturities may differ from contractual maturities because issuers may have the right to call or
prepay obligations without penalties.

Amortized Fair
Cost Value

Due in one year or less $ 19,275,539 $ 19,308,288 
Due after one year through five years 136,179,160 138,504,642 
Due after five years through ten years 361,263,590 372,333,902 
Due after ten years 71,970,723 70,497,235 
Total $ 588,689,012 $ 600,644,067    

Proceeds from sales of securities available for sale during 2021 and 2020 were $4,384,105 and $17,169,193,
respectively.  Gross realized gains amounted to $730,035 and $1,221,229 in 2021 and 2020, respectively.  Gross realized
losses amounted to $0 and $172 in 2021 and 2020, respectively.  

The amortized cost of securities pledged to secure public deposits, borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank,
fiduciary powers and for other purposes required or permitted by law amounted to $290,480,855 and $230,685,325 at
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Temporarily Impaired Securities

Information pertaining to securities with gross unrealized losses at December 31, 2021 and 2020, aggregated by
investment category and length of time that individual securities have been in a continuous loss position, follows:

2021
Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or More

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss Total

US Treasury $ 5,312,305 $ 29,176 $ — $ — $ 5,341,481 
Securities of state and 
political subdivisions 104,705,420 2,181,467 10,728,129 468,118 118,083,134 

Mortgage-backed securities
Agency 25,032,197 587,267 2,620,859 25,108 28,265,431 
Non-agency 49,531,641 583,028 13,874,146 290,137 64,278,952 

Other debt securities 23,849,396 221,181 7,544,241 78,493 31,693,311 
$ 208,430,959 $ 3,602,119 $ 34,767,375 $ 861,856 $ 247,662,309  

2020
Less Than 12 Months 12 Months or More

Fair Unrealized Fair Unrealized
Value Loss Value Loss Total

Securities of state and 
political subdivisions $ 14,809,793 $ 112,330 $ — $ — $ 14,922,123 

SBA loan pooled securities 966,290 5,172 — — 971,462 
Mortgage-backed securities
Agency 4,150,361 15,575 5,469,507 8,486 9,643,929 
Non-agency 25,369,062 288,374 7,655,600 135,047 33,448,083 

Other debt securities 1,585,629 27,929 19,442,885 307,849 21,364,292 
$ 46,881,135 $ 449,380 $ 32,567,992 $ 451,382 $ 80,349,889 

U.S. Treasury

The unrealized losses on CFS’s investment in 2 U.S. Treasury securities are primarily due to changes in interest 
rates.  These securities are backed by the full faith and credit of the U.S. government and therefore CFS does not consider
these investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired at December 31, 2021.



Securities of State and Political Subdivisions

CFS's unrealized losses on investments in 113 municipal bonds relate to investments in longer-term securities of
municipalities throughout the U.S.  The unrealized losses are primarily caused by the trend in interest rates.  CFS
currently does not believe it is probable that it will be unable to collect all amounts due according to the contractual terms
of the investments.  Because CFS does not intend to sell the investments and it is not more-likely-than-not that CFS will
be required to sell the investments before recovery of its par value, which may be maturity, it does not consider these
investments to be other-than-temporarily impaired at December 31, 2021.

Mortgage-Backed Securities

The unrealized losses on CFS's investment in 24 government-sponsored enterprise mortgage-backed securities were
caused by interest rate movements.  CFS purchased those investments at a premium relative to their face amount, and the
contractual cash flows of those investments are guaranteed by an agency of the U.S. government.  Accordingly, it is
expected that the securities would not be settled at a price less than the amortized cost of CFS's investments.  CFS does
not consider these investments to be OTTI at December 31, 2021 due to the following:

• The decline in the market value is attributable to changes in interest rates and not credit quality;

• CFS does not intend to sell the investments;

• It is not more-likely-than-not that CFS will be required to sell the investments before recovery of their amortized
cost basis, which may be maturity.

The unrealized losses associated with 66 private-label residential mortgage-backed securities are primarily driven by
higher projected collateral losses, wider credit spreads and changes in interest rates.  CFS assessed credit impairment using
an economic cash flow model.  Based upon the Company’s assessment of the expected credit losses of the security given
the performance of the underlying collateral, CFS has appropriately recognized the related other-than-temporary
impairment losses in these private-label residential mortgage-backed securities in years prior to 2020 and 2021.  The
remaining unrealized losses are deemed to be related to factors other than credit.

Management continuously monitors the mortgage-backed securities portfolio for potential permanent impairment.
Analytical tools used include robust credit risk analysis.  CFS strives to maintain exposure only to securities that have
credit support in excess of original issue levels.  Generally, it is CFS’s intent to hold the securities for the time necessary to
recover the amortized cost unless prudent business decisions warrant otherwise.

Other Debt Securities 

The 46 investments in this category are primarily made up of student loan backed investments under the Federal
Family Education Loan Program (FFELP).  These loans are generally insured by the Federal Government at 97% or more
of their balances.  The investments have investment grade ratings by credible rating agencies.  Management determined
that the unrealized losses in other debt securities is a result of movements in interest rates and market conditions.  There
was no OTTI impairment recognized as of December 31, 2021.

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment 

CFS routinely conducts periodic reviews to identify and evaluate each investment security to determine whether an
OTTI has occurred.  The initial indicator of OTTI is a decline in market value (unrealized loss) below the amount
recorded for an investment as well as the severity and duration of the decline.  If the decline in fair value is below
amortized cost, CFS recognizes OTTI if (1) CFS has the intent to sell the security, (2) it is more-likely-than-not that CFS
will be required to sell the security before recovery of its amortized cost basis, or (3) CFS does not expect to recover the
entire amortized cost of the security.  While all securities are considered, the securities primarily impacted by
management’s OTTI analysis are private-label residential mortgage-backed securities.  CFS uses economic models to aid in
its determination of OTTI.  Various inputs into the economic models are used to determine if OTTI exists.  The most
significant inputs in determining OTTI are:

• Length of time and extent to which fair value has been less than amortized cost;
• Cause of the decline, such as interest rates or adverse conditions in the market;
• Payment structure of the security;
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• Credit performance of the underlying collateral, including delinquency rates, nonperforming collateral/defaults, 
severities of losses, collateral values and expected credit losses;

• Current rating of security; and
• Independent analysts’ reports and forecasts.

Other inputs may include the actual collateral attributes and other performance indicators of the underlying asset.

If CFS determines that a given security is subject to an OTTI write-down or loss, CFS records the expected credit
portion of the loss as a charge to earnings.  The measurement of the credit loss component is equal to the difference
between the security’s cost basis and the present value of its expected future cash flows, using the economic models,
discounted at the security’s purchase yield assumption.  The remaining non-credit portion is recorded in other
comprehensive income.

The following roll forward reflects the amount related to possible credit losses recognized in earnings.  The beginning
balance represents possible credit losses on debt securities at the beginning of the period for which a portion of an other-
than-temporary impairment was recognized in other comprehensive income.

Available
for Sale

Beginning balance as of December 31, 2020 $ 3,469,119
Securities sold (3,469,119)

Ending balance as of December 31, 2021 $ — 

Note 3.  SBA-PPP Loans Receivable
Pursuant to the CARES Act, the SBA-PPP provides forgivable loans to small businesses to enable them to maintain

payroll, hire back employees who have been laid off, and cover applicable overhead.  SBA-PPP loans have an interest rate
of 1.0%, have 2 and 5 year terms, and carry a 100% guarantee of the SBA.

The allowance for loan losses for SBA-PPP loans was separately evaluated given the explicit government guarantee.
This analysis, which incorporated historical experience with similar SBA guarantees and underwriting, concluded the
likelihood of loss was remote and therefore no allowance for loan losses was assigned to these loans.

SBA-PPP loans receivable totaled $2.7 million and $54.1 million as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.
All were rated as pass credits, not past due, nonaccrual, TDR, or otherwise impaired.  Unearned net fees associated with
the SBA-PPP loans amounted to $97 thousand and $2.1 million at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.  There
were no outstanding commitments to extend additional SBA-PPP loans at December 31, 2021.



Note 4.  Loans
A summary of the balances of loans by segment follows:

December 31,
2021 2020

Commercial $ 246,096,810 $ 200,731,828 
Commercial - Real Estate 316,736,538 254,178,453 
Consumer - Non Real Estate 8,285,369 7,954,874 
Residential - Real Estate 92,460,456 88,853,702 
Gross loans $ 663,579,173 $ 551,718,857 
Less:  Allowance for loan losses (6,793,400) (7,279,764)
Loans, net $ 656,785,773 $ 544,439,093  

Overdrafts totaling $299,900 and $434,247 at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, were reclassified from
deposits to Consumer – Non Real Estate loans.

The following tables represent a summary of changes in the allowance for loan losses by segment:
Consumer - 

Commercial - Non Real Residential - 
Commercial Real Estate Estate Real Estate Unallocated Total

Year Ended December 31, 2021
Balance beginning of year $ 3,077,712 $ 2,813,553 $ 211,581 $ 974,347 $ 202,571 $ 7,279,764 
Provision for (reversal of ) 
loan losses (466,549) 425,356 (82,251) (99,844) (176,716) (400,004)

Charge-offs (14,167) (138,926) (110,407) — — (263,500)
Recoveries 107,133 — 61,607 8,400 — 177,140 

Total allowance for 
loan losses $ 2,704,129 $ 3,099,983 $ 80,530 $ 882,903 $ 25,855 $ 6,793,400 

Individually evaluated 
for impairment $ 217,418 $ 171,294 $ — $ — $ — $ 388,712 

Collectively evaluated 
for impairment 2,486,711 2,928,689 80,530 882,903 25,855 6,404,688 
Total allowance 
for loan losses $ 2,704,129 $ 3,099,983 $ 80,530 $ 882,903 $ 25,855 $ 6,793,400 

Individually evaluated 
for impairment $ 1,615,758 $ 1,823,775 $ — $ — $ — $ 3,439,533 

Collectively evaluated 
for impairment 244,481,052 314,912,763 8,285,369 92,460,456 — 660,139,640 
Total loans $ 246,096,810 $ 316,736,538 $ 8,285,369 $ 92,460,456 $ — $ 663,579,173 
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Consumer - 
Commercial - Non Real Residential - 

Commercial Real Estate Estate Real Estate Unallocated Total
Year Ended December 31, 2020
Balance beginning of year $ 1,500,335 $ 2,521,408 $ 81,909 $ 746,006 $ 224,140 $ 5,073,798 
Provision for (reversal of ) 
loan losses 2,000,106 (459,957) 159,031 272,385 (21,569) 1,949,996 

Charge-offs (447,467) — (99,311) (75,296) — (622,074)
Recoveries 24,738 752,102 69,952 31,252 — 878,044 

Total allowance 
for loan losses $ 3,077,712 $ 2,813,553 $ 211,581 $ 974,347 $ 202,571 $ 7,279,764 

Individually evaluated 
for impairment $ 789,703 $ 233,242 $ — $ — $ — $ 1,022,945 

Collectively evaluated 
for impairment 2,288,009 2,580,311 211,581 974,347 202,571 6,256,819 
Total allowance 
for loan losses $ 3,077,712 $ 2,813,553 $ 211,581 $ 974,347 $ 202,571 $ 7,279,764 

Individually evaluated 
for impairment $ 3,930,074 $ 4,908,475 $ — $ 206,238 $ — $ 9,044,787 

Collectively evaluated 
for impairment 196,801,754 249,269,978 7,954,874 88,647,464 — 542,674,070 
Total loans $ 200,731,828 $ 254,178,453 $ 7,954,874 $ 88,853,702 $ — $ 551,718,857  

The following table presents additional impaired loan information at yearend.  Unpaid principal balance represents
the contractual principal balance of the loan.

Unpaid Average Interest
Recorded Principal Related Recorded Income
Investment Balance Allowance Investment Recognized

December 31, 2021
With no related allowance:
Commercial 
Secured $ 582,311 $ 582,31 $ — $ 842,124 $ 45,780 

Commercial - Real Estate
Non-owner occupied 599,481 599,481 — 626,980 46,932 

With an allowance recorded:
Commercial
Secured 1,033,447 1,033,447 217,418 1,365,167 58,158 

Commercial - Real Estate
Owner occupied 1,224,294 1,224,294 171,294 1,251,761 66,925 

Total:
Commercial 1,615,758 1,615,758 217,418 2,207,291 103,938 
Commercial - Real Estate 1,823,775 1,823,775 171,294 1,878,741 113,857 

$ 3,439,533 $ 3,439,533 $ 388,712 $ 4,086,032 $ 217,795 



Unpaid Average Interest
Recorded Principal Related Recorded Income
Investment Balance Allowance Investment Recognized

December 31, 2020
With no related allowance:
Commercial 
Secured $ 2,436,228 $ 2,436,228 $ — $ 3,415,961 $ 98,780 

Commercial - Real Estate
Non-owner occupied 2,963,169 2,963,169 — 740,792 118,890 
Owner occupied 659,064 659,064 — 703,844 17,185 

Residential - Real Estate
First lien 1-4 family 206,238 206,238 — 51,559 12,619 

With an allowance recorded:
Commercial 
Secured $ 1,493,846 $ 1,493,846 $ 789,703 $ 614,530 $ 46,675 

Consumer - Real Estate
Owner occupied 1,286,242 1,286,242 233,242 1,463,649 25,457 

Total:
Commercial $ 3,930,074 $ 3,930,074 $ 789,703 $ 4,030,491 $ 145,455 
Commercial - Real Estate 4,908,475 4,908,475 233,242 2,908,285 161,532 
Residential - Real Estate 206,238 206,238 — 51,559 12,619 

$ 9,044,787 $ 9,044,787 $ 1,022,945 $ 6,990,335 $ 319,606 

Included in impaired loans are troubled debt restructurings.  At December 31, 2021 and 2020, $3,548,413 and
$5,591,268 in loans were classified as troubled debt restructurings where concessions have been granted to borrowers
experiencing financial difficulties.  These concessions could include a reduction in the loan interest rate, payment
extensions, or other actions intended to maximize collection.

Information regarding loans modified as troubled debt restructurings by class during 2021 are as follows:

Pre-Modification Post-Modification 
Outstanding Outstanding 

Number of Recorded Recorded 
Contracts Investment Investment

Commercial - Secured 3 $ 947,077 $ 947,077 

The restructured loans have been classified as a troubled debt restructuring due to being modified to interest only
payments for greater than 12 months along with debt service coverage.

Information regarding loans modified as troubled debt restructuring by class during 2020 are as follows:

Pre-Modification Post-Modification 
Outstanding Outstanding 

Number of Recorded Recorded 
Contracts Investment Investment

Commercial - Real Estate
Non-owner occupied 2 $ 1,945,306 $ 1,945,306 
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The 2020 restructured loans have been classified as a troubled debt restructuring due to being modified to interest
only payments for greater than 12 months along with debt service coverage.

There were no troubled debt restructurings that subsequently defaulted (more than 90 days past due or charged-off)
within the first year of modification during 2021 and 2020.

At December 31, 2021, no additional funds were committed to be advanced in connection with impaired loans.

The Bank’s internal risk rating definitions are:

Pass/Watch:  These include satisfactory loans which may have elements of risk that the Bank has chosen to monitor
formally.  The objective of monitoring is to assure that no weaknesses develop in these loans.

Special Mention:  These loans have a potential weakness that requires management’s close attention.  If left
uncorrected, these potential weaknesses may result in deterioration of the repayment prospects for the asset or in the
Bank’s credit position at some future date.  These credits do not expose the Bank to sufficient risk to warrant further
adverse classification.

Substandard: A substandard asset is inadequately protected by the current sound worth and paying capacity of the
obligor or of the collateral pledged, if any.  Loans classified as such must have a well-defined weakness or weaknesses that
jeopardize the liquidation of the debt.  They are characterized by the distinct possibility that the Bank will sustain some
loss if the deficiencies are not corrected.

Doubtful: Loans classified doubtful have all the weaknesses inherent in a substandard asset with the added
characteristic that the weaknesses make collection or liquidation in full, on the basis of currently existing facts, conditions,
and values, highly questionable and improbable.

Loss:  Loans classified loss are considered uncollectible and of such little value that their continuance as a bankable
asset is not warranted.  This classification does not mean that the asset has absolutely no recovery or salvage value, but
rather it is not practical or desirable to defer writing off this basically worthless asset even though partial recovery may be
received in the future.

The Bank’s credit quality information, which is based on internal risk grades is as follows:

Special
Pass Watch Mention Substandard Doubtful Total

December 31, 2021
Commercial
Secured $ 229,725,280 $ 1,493,341 $ — $ 957,862 $ — $ 232,176,483 
Unsecured 13,903,754 — — 16,573 — 13,920,327 

Commercial - Real Estate
Acquisition and development 13,947,022 — — — — 13,947,022 
Non-owner occupied 183,765,233 713,259 1,320,448 — — 185,798,940 
Owner occupied 92,389,847 1,623,586 — 1,823,775 — 95,837,208 
Multifamily 21,153,368 — — — — 21,153,368 

Consumer - Non Real Estate
Installment 6,136,403 — — 4,297 — 6,140,700 
Revolving 1,844,769 — — — — 1,844,769 
Other 299,900 — — — — 299,900 

Residential - Real Estate
First lien 1-4 family 32,100,953 481,924 468,747 7,495 — 33,059,119 
Junior lien 1-4 family 10,493,888 — — — — 10,493,888 
Construction 15,286,976 — — — — 15,286,976 
Land 12,033,249 23,859 — — — 12,057,108 
Revolving 21,379,485 149,139 34,741 — — 21,563,365 
Total $ 654,460,127 $ 4,485,108 $ 1,823,936 $ 2,810,002 $ — $ 663,579,173  



Special
Pass Watch Mention Substandard Doubtful Total

December 31, 2020
Commercial 
Secured $ 176,098,653 $ 6,356,346 $ 728,236 $ 3,261,447 $ — $ 186,444,682 
Unsecured 14,086,885 175,592 — 24,669 — 14,287,146 

Commercial - Real Estate
Acquisition and development 9,496,359 — — — — 9,496,359 
Non-owner occupied 112,627,549 24,374,081 4,850,982 — — 141,852,612 
Owner occupied 88,561,732 3,064,137 41,074 1,945,306 — 93,612,249 
Multifamily 9,217,233 — — — — 9,217,233 

Consumer - Non Real Estate
Installment 6,279,670 11,971 — 33,759 — 6,325,400 
Revolving 1,195,227 — — — — 1,195,227 
Other 434,247 — — — — 434,247 

Residential - Real Estate
First lien 1-4 family 31,315,202 655,046 76,183 216,175 — 32,262,606 
Junior lien 1-4 family 10,768,834 — — — — 10,768,834 
Construction 11,388,631 — — — — 11,388,631 
Land 9,630,377 — — — — 9,630,377 
Revolving 24,268,262 149,894 385,098 — — 24,803,254 
Total $ 505,368,861 $ 34,787,067 $ 6,081,573 $ 5,481,356 $ — $ 551,718,857 

The following is a summary of information pertaining to nonaccrual and past due loans by class:

30-59 Days 60-89 Days 90 Days or Total
Past Due Past Due More Past Due Past Due Nonaccruals Current Total Loans

December 31, 2021
Commercial
Secured $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 10,785 $ 232,165,698 $ 232,176,483 
Unsecured 55,622 — — 55,622 — 13,864,705 13,920,327 

Commercial Real Estate
Acquisition and development — — — — — 13,947,022 13,947,022 
Non-owner occupied 185,109 — — 185,109 — 185,613,831 185,798,940 
Owner occupied 204,002 241,036 — 445,038 1,823,775 93,568,395 95,837,208 
Multifamily — — — — — 21,153,368 21,153,368 

Consumer - Non Real Estate
Installment 18,234 — — 18,234 741 6,121,725 6,140,700 
Revolving 14,329 — — 14,329 — 1,830,440 1,844,769 
Other 12,212 — — 12,212 — 287,688 299,900 

Residential - Real Estate
First lien 1-4 family 21,577 86,627 — 108,204 137,354 32,813,561 33,059,119 
Junior lien 1-4 family — — — — 46,256 10,447,632 10,493,888 
Construction — — — — — 15,286,976 15,286,976 
Land 18,371 — — 18,371 — 12,038,737 12,057,108 
Revolving 286,111 — — 286,111 — 21,277,254 21,563,365 
Total $ 815,567 $ 327,663 $ — $ 1,143,230 $ 2,018,911 $ 660,417,032 $ 663,579,173  
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30-59 Days 60-89 Days 90 Days or Total
Past Due Past Due More Past Due Past Due Nonaccruals Current Total Loans

December 31, 2020
Commercial
Secured $ — $ — $ — $ — $ 1,132,029 $ 185,312,653 $ 186,444,682 
Unsecured — — — — — 14,287,146 14,287,146 

Commercial Real Estate
Acquisition and development — — — — — 9,496,359 9,496,359 
Non-owner occupied — — — — — 141,852,612 141,852,612 
Owner occupied — 1,286,242 — 1,286,242 700,138 91,625,869 93,612,249 
Multifamily — — — — — 9,217,233 9,217,233 

Consumer - Non Real Estate
Installment 7,641 6,405 — 14,046 2,367 6,308,987 6,325,400 
Revolving — — — — — 1,195,227 1,195,227 
Other 3,736 — — 3,736 — 430,511 434,247 

Residential - Real Estate
First lien 1-4 family 1,069,425 — — 1,069,425 151,481 31,041,700 32,262,606 
Junior lien 1-4 family 1,392 — — 1,392 54,631 10,712,811 10,768,834 
Construction — — — — — 11,388,631 11,388,631 
Land 20,899 — — 20,899 6,451 9,603,027 9,630,377 
Revolving 15,077 40,165 — 55,242 61,156 24,686,856 24,803,254 
Total $ 1,118,170 $ 1,332,812 $ — $ 2,450,982 $ 2,108,253 $ 547,159,622 $ 551,718,857 

There were no loans 90+ days past due and still accruing at December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

On March 22, 2020, a statement was issued by our regulators and titled the “Interagency Statement on Loan
Modification and Reporting for Financial Institutions Working with Customers Affected by the Coronavirus” (the
“Interagency Statement”) that encourages financial institutions to work prudently with borrowers who are or may be
unable to meet their contractual payment obligations due to the effects of COVID-19.  Additionally, Section 4013 of the
CARES Act that was passed on March 27, 2020 further provides that a qualified loan modification is exempt by law from
classification as a TDR as defined by GAAP, from the period beginning March 1, 2020 until the earlier of December 31,
2020 or the date that is 60 days after the date of which the national emergency concerning the COVID-19 outbreak
declared by the President of the United States under the National Emergencies Act terminates.  In accordance with such
guidance, the Company offered short-term modifications made in response to COVID-19 to borrowers who are current
and otherwise not past due.  These include short-term (180 days or less) modifications in the form of payment deferral,
fee waivers, extensions of repayment terms or other delays in payment that are insignificant.

In 2020, as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, the company granted 90-day loan payment deferrals for 61
residential mortgage loans and home equity lines of credit totaling $13,960,227 in unpaid principal balance, as well as
deferrals for 263 commercial loans and construction loans totaling $159,359,344 in unpaid principal balance.  As of
December 31, 2020, there were no loans remaining on deferral.  Subsequently, to the end of the 90-day full payment
deferred period, 17 relationships representing $40.6 million went on interest only payments.  As of December 31, 2020, 
9 of these relationships, totaling $20.3 million remain on interest only payments.

There were no additional deferrals made during 2021.  As of December 31, 2021, there were no relationships
remaining on interest only payments.

Note 5.  Premises and Equipment
A summary of the cost and accumulated depreciation of premises and equipment follows:

December 31,
2021 2020

Land $ 5,115,379 $ 5,052,979 
Buildings 25,434,153 22,605,486 
Furniture, fixtures and improvements 2,861,724 2,658,148 
Equipment 5,773,385 5,588,195 
Leasehold improvements 4,251,165 4,123,707 

$ 43,435,806 $ 40,028,515 
Less accumulated depreciation (21,403,944) (20,099,713)
Total $ 22,031,862 $ 19,928,802  



For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, depreciation expense was $1,407,466 and $1,300,795,
respectively.  

Included in the consolidated balance sheet presentation of these financial statements, premises and equipment also
includes the right-of-use asset for leases totaling $747,853 and $832,525 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.  Refer to
Note 13 for additional disclosure on the right-of-use asset.

Note 6.  Time Deposits
Remaining maturities on certificates of deposit are as follows:

2022 $111,154,465 
2023 13,375,970 
2024 9,965,501 
2025 3,557,490 
2026 1,255,678 
Thereafter — 
Total $139,309,104  

Note 7.  Trust Preferred Capital Notes
On July 2, 2007, CFS Capital Trust II was formed by the Company for the purpose of issuing redeemable capital

securities.  Trust II is not a consolidated subsidiary of the Company.  On July 5, 2007, $15.5 million of trust preferred
securities which have a LIBOR-indexed floating rate of interest were issued.  The weighted-average interest rate for the
year ended December 31, 2021 was 1.56%.  The interest rate as of December 31, 2021 was 1.51%.  The securities have a
mandatory redemption date of October 1, 2037, and became subject to varying call provisions beginning on September
6, 2012.  

In August 2014, CFS was notified that $5.0 million of the $15.0 million in trust preferred securities of Trust II would
be auctioned off as part of a larger pooled collateralized debt obligation liquidation.  CFS placed a bid of $3.9 million for
the securities which was accepted by the trustee and the transaction closed on September 5, 2014.  In January 2015, CFS
was notified that $5.0 million of the $10.0 million remaining in trust preferred securities of Trust II would be auctioned
off as part of a larger pooled collateralized debt obligation liquidation.  CFS placed bids totaling $3.9 million for the
securities which were accepted by the trustee and the transactions closed on February 5, 2015 and February 13, 2015.

As of December 31, 2021, $5.0 million in preferred stock and $155,000 in common stock of Trust II were still
outstanding.

The trust preferred securities may be included in Tier 1 capital for regulatory capital adequacy determination purposes
up to 25% of Tier 1 capital after its inclusion.  The portion of the trust preferred not considered as Tier 1 capital may be
included in Tier 2 capital.

The obligations of CFS with respect to the issuance of the capital securities constitute a full and unconditional
guarantee by CFS of the Trust’s obligations with respect to the capital securities.

Subject to certain exceptions and limitations, CFS may elect from time to time to defer interest payments on the
junior subordinated debt securities, which would result in a deferral of distribution payments on the related capital
securities.

Note 8.  Borrowings
The Bank has lines of credit with the FHLB that can equal up to 25% of total assets of the Bank.  As of December

31, 2021, loans with a carrying value of $9,896,360 and securities with an amortized cost of $153,658,237 were pledged
to the FHLB as collateral for borrowings.  The FHLB lines of credit totaled $147.7 million with an outstanding balance
of $87 million as of December 31, 2021.  At December 31, 2020 the FHLB lines of credit totaled $106.7 million with
an outstanding balance of $50.0 million.  Additional loans are available that can be pledged as collateral for future
borrowings from the FHLB above the current lendable collateral value.  
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The Bank also maintains an additional secured line of credit with another correspondent bank totaling $20.0 million,
which had an outstanding balance of $12 million as of December 31, 2021.  At December 31, 2020 there was no
outstanding balance.  In addition to the available credit from the FHLB, the Bank also has unsecured lines of credit with
correspondent banks totaling $89.5 million available for overnight borrowings.  The Company has a line of credit secured
by 400,000 shares of Chesapeake Bank common stock with a correspondent bank totaling $5.0 million available for
borrowing as of December 31, 2021.  There were no outstanding balances on these lines of credit as of December 31,
2021 and 2020.

On June 15, 2021, the Company entered into a Subordinated Note Purchase Agreement with 32 institutional
accredited investors under which the Company issued an aggregate of $20 million of subordinated notes (the “2021
Notes”) to institutional accredited investors. The 2021 Notes have a maturity date of June 15, 2031. The 2021 Notes bear
interest, payable on the 15th of June and December of each year, commencing December 15, 2021, at a fixed rate of
3.25% per year for the first 5 years, and thereafter will bear a floating interest rate of 3-Month Term SOFR plus 260 basis
points. The 2021 Notes are not convertible into common stock or preferred stock and are not callable by the holders. The
Company has the right to redeem the 2021 Notes, in whole or in part, without premium or penalty, at any interest
payment date on or after December 15, 2026 and prior to the maturity date, but in all cases in a principal amount with
integral multiples of $1,000, plus interest accrued and unpaid through the date of redemption. If an event of default
occurs, such as the bankruptcy of the Company, the holder of a 2021 Note may declare the principal amount of the note
to be due and immediately payable. The 2021 Notes are unsecured, subordinated obligations of the Company, and rank
junior in right of payment to the Company’s existing and future senior indebtedness. The 2021 Notes qualify as Tier 2
capital for regulatory reporting; though, Tier 2 capital treatment is reduced by 20% in each year subsequent to the first
date of the redemption right.

Note 9.  Income Taxes
The income tax provision differs from the amount of income tax determined by applying the U.S. federal income tax

rate to pretax income for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, due to the following:

2021 2020

Income tax at federal statutory rate $ 3,635,688 $ 2,901,240 
Decrease in income taxes resulting from:
State and local taxes 15,694 13,096 
Tax exempt income (1,101,505) (964,411)
Other (246,590) 96,271 

Total $ 2,303,287 $ 2,046,196  

The provision for income taxes charged to operations for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, consists of
the following:

2021 2020

Current tax expense
Federal $ 2,192,761 $ 2,251,833 
State 23,779 19,842 

Deferred tax expense (benefit) 86,747 (225,479)
Total $ 2,303,287 $ 2,046,196 



The components of the net deferred tax asset, included in other assets, are as follows:

December 31,
2021 2020

Deferred tax assets:
Allowance for loan and cash management account losses $ 1,726,117 $ 1,935,415 
Foreclosed assets 157,765 198,058 
Deferred compensation 304,025 171,222 
Premises and equipment (97,008) (46,942)
Restricted stock (118,969) (138,657)
Other 137,824 77,405 

Total deferred tax assets $ 2,109,754 $ 2,196,501 
Deferred tax liabilities:
Securities available for sale $ 2,510,563 $ 4,368,366 

Net deferred tax assets (liabilities) $ (400,809) $ (2,171,865) 

CFS, on a consolidated basis, files income tax returns in the U.S. federal jurisdiction, the Commonwealth of Virginia
and other states where income is generated.  With few exceptions, CFS is no longer subject to U.S. federal or state income
tax examinations by tax authorities for years before 2018.  

The Company has analyzed the tax positions taken or expected to be taken in its tax returns and concluded it has no
liability related to uncertain tax positions.  

Note 10.  Employee Benefit Plans 
Employee Stock Ownership Plan

CFS sponsors an employee stock ownership plan (ESOP) that generally covers full-time employees who have
completed one calendar year of service.  CFS makes annual contributions to the ESOP at the discretion of the Board of
Directors.  ESOP compensation expense was $450,000 and $450,000 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

401(k) Plan

CFS has adopted a contributory 401(k) plan that covers substantially all employees.  Under the plan, employees may
elect to defer up to 100% of their salary, subject to Internal Revenue Service limits.  CFS will make a matching
contribution of 100% of the first 3% and 50% of the second 3% of the employee’s salary deferred.  CFS may also make a
discretionary contribution to the plan.  Total expense related to the plan was $683,113 and $636,033 for 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

Post-retirement benefits

The Company has entered into deferred compensation arrangements with certain key personnel, which call for the
payment of benefits upon the retirement or death of the individuals.  The agreements provide that a retirement benefit is
payable upon a defined normal retirement age while in service to the Company and a lesser benefit is payable upon early
retirement.  Other benefits are payable upon disability, death or change in control.

These agreements are unfunded arrangements maintained primarily to provide supplemental retirement benefits and
comply with Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code.  

The Company has elected to finance the retirement benefits by purchasing annuities that have been designed to
provide a future source of funds for the lifetime retirement benefits of the agreements.  The liabilities associated with these
deferred compensation arrangements were $1,208,171 and $748,096 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.  The annuity had a balance of $3,616,990 and $3,613,769 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively,
and is recorded at amortized cost.  Salaries and employee benefits expense included $460,075 and $422,700 of expense
related to these arrangements for 2021 and 2020, respectively.
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Note 11.  Stock Option Plans
On April 1, 2005, CFS’s shareholders approved a stock incentive plan under which options or restricted stock may be

granted to certain key employees.  The plan reserved 269,568 shares of voting common stock for issuance and expired on
January 21, 2015.  There was no compensation cost charged to income for those plans related to stock options for 2021.

On April 4, 2014, CFS’s shareholders approved a stock incentive plan under which options or restricted stock may be
granted to certain key employees.  The plan reserved 504,000 shares of voting common stock for issuance and expires on
January 16, 2024.  There was no compensation cost charged to income for those plans related to stock options for 2021.

The incentive stock option plans require that options be granted at an exercise price equal to at least 100% of the fair
market value of the common stock on the date of the grant; however, for those individuals who own more than 10% of
the stock of CFS, the option price must be at least 110% of the fair market value on the date of grant.  Such options are
generally not exercisable until 3 years from the date of issuance and require continuous employment during the period
prior to exercise.  The options will expire in no more than 10 years after the date of grant.  The fair value of each option
grant is estimated on the date of the grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model.  Expected volatility is based on
the historic volatility of CFS’s stock price over the expected life of the options.  The expected term is estimated as the
average of the contractual life and vesting schedule for the respective options.  The risk-free interest rate is the U.S.
Treasury zero-coupon issue with a remaining term equal to the expected term of the options granted.  The dividend yield
is estimated as the ratio of CFS’s historical dividends paid per share of common stock to the stock price on the date of
grant.  There were no options granted during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

A summary of the option activity under the plans at December 31, 2021 and changes during the year then ended are
as follows:

Weighted
Weighted Average
Average Remaining Aggregate
Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Shares Price Term Value

Outstanding at December 31, 2020 38,247 $ 9.38 
Granted — — 
Exercised (16,934) 9.20 
Expired (2,160) 9.20 
Forfeited (1) 9.20 

Outstanding at December 31, 2021 19,152 $9.55 0.3 $ 395,516 
Options exercisable, end of year 19,152 $9.55 0.3 $ 395,516  

Aggregate intrinsic value of stock options represents the total pre-tax intrinsic value (the amount by which the current
market value of the underlying stock exceeds the exercise price of the option) that would have been received by the option
holders had all the option holders exercised their options on December 31, 2021.  This amount changes based on changes
in the market value of CFS’s stock.

The total intrinsic value of options exercised during the year ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 was $234,443 and
$229,994, respectively.  As of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 there are no unrecognized compensation costs
related to nonvested stock options granted under the plans.  

Restricted Stock

The Company grants shares of restricted stock to key employees.  These awards help align the interests of these
employees with the interests of the shareholders of the Company by providing economic value directly related to increases
in the value of the Company’s common stock.  The value of the stock awarded is established as the fair market value of
the stock at the time of grant.  The Company recognizes expense, equal to the total value of such awards, ratably over the
vesting period of the stock grants.  Restricted stock vests over 36 months based on the term of the award.  



Nonvested restricted stock activity for the year ended December 31, 2021 is summarized in the following table:

Weighted
Average Grant

Shares Date Value

Nonvested at December 31, 2020 31,030 $ 20.48 
Granted 17,800 25.90 
Vested (15,388) 21.38 
Forfeited (827) 22.68 

Nonvested at December 31, 2021 32,615 $ 22.96 

At December 31, 2021, there were no unrecognized compensation costs related to nonvested restricted stock granted
under the 2005 Plan.  At December 31, 2021, there was $523,100 in unrecognized compensation cost related to
nonvested restricted stock granted under the 2014 Plan.  This cost is expected to be recognized over the next 28 months.
Stock based compensation expense for nonvested restricted stock totaled $349,416 and $345,905 during 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

Note 12.  Shareholders' Equity
During 2021 and 2020, CFS issued 8,703 and 6,876 shares, respectively, of common stock to its directors for partial

compensation.  Also, during 2021 and 2020, the Company purchased and retired 130,889 and 136,656 shares,
respectively of common stock.   

Note 13.  Leases
The Company’s long-term lease agreements are classified as finance leases.  These leases offer the option to extend the

lease term and the Company has included such extensions in its calculation of the lease liabilities to the extent the options are
reasonably assured of being exercised. 

The components of lease expense are as follows:

2021 2020

Finance lease expense
Amortization of right-of-use asset $ 84,672 $ 183,472 
Interest on lease liabilities 34,785 37,266 
Total finance lease expense $ 119,457 $ 220,738  

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities are as follows:
2021 2020

Operating cash flows from finance leases $ 109,141 $ 105,778  

Supplemental balance sheet information related to leases are as follows:

2021 2020

Finance Leases:
Premises and equipment $ 832,525 $ 1,015,997 
Accumulated depreciation 84,672 183,472 
Premises and equipment, net $ 747,853 $ 832,525 

Other long-term liabilities 933,363 1,003,992 
Total finance lease liabilities $ 933,363 $ 1,003,992 

Weighted Average Remaining Lease Term: 10 Years 10 Years
Weighted Average Discount Rate: 3.6% 3.6%
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Maturities of lease liabilities are as follows:
For the year ending December 31, 2021

2022 $ 81,879 
2023 88,243 
2024 94,925 
2025 101,963 
2026 109,357 
Thereafter 474,618 
Lease payments $ 950,985 

Amounts representing interest (17,622)
Present value of net future minimum lease payments $ 933,363 

Rent expense under operating leases totaled $74,356 and $68,512 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively.

Note 14.  Related Party Transactions
Officers, directors and their affiliates had loans of $17,755,481 and $5,408,821 at December 31, 2021 and 2020,

respectively, with the Bank.

Changes in related party loans during 2021 were as follows:
Balance, December 31, 2020 $ 5,408,821 
Additions 16,781,068 
Payments (4,434,408)

Balance, December 31, 2021 $ 17,755,481    

These transactions occurred in the ordinary course of business on substantially the same terms as those prevailing at
the time for comparable transactions with unrelated persons.

Related parties had deposits of $12,210,640 and $11,869,806 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

Note 15.  Other Income and Expenses
The principal components of “Other income" in the consolidated statements of income are:

2021 2020

ATM fee income $ 2,182,927 $ 1,626,915 
Other 2,373,198 2,250,692 
Total $ 4,556,125 $ 3,877,607  

The principal components of “Other expenses” in the consolidated statements of income are:
2021 2020

Advertising $ 1,412,661 $ 989,792 
Software 3,007,784 2,110,726 
Professional fees 1,836,116 1,456,795 
Debit card expense 802,989 824,226 
Franchise tax 866,471 748,475 
Contributions 614,038 404,559 
Exam and audit 298,318 401,216 
Legal fees 508,080 348,634 
FDIC assessments 349,753 274,788 
Delivery and transportation 286,960 277,335 
Stationery and supplies 233,766 251,647 
Other 4,014,372 3,177,904 
Total $ 14,231,308 $ 11,266,097  



Note 16.  Revenue from Contracts with Customers
During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, the Company recognized revenues from contracts with

customers totaling $16,342,293 and $16,481,103, respectively.  There were no impairment losses recognized on any
receivables or contract assets arising from the Company’s contracts with customers during the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020.  While the Company does have noninterest income related to changes in cash surrender value of life
insurance, sales of investments, and income from government sponsored entities, these are not within the scope of 
ASC 606.  

All of the Company’s revenue from contracts with customers in the scope of ASC 606 is recognized within
noninterest income.  The following table represents the Company’s sources of noninterest income for the years ended
December 31, 2021 and 2020.  Items outside the scope of ASC 606 are noted as such

2021 2020

Noninterest income
Service charges $ 770,347 $ 776,791 
ATM fee income 2,182,927 1,626,915 
Trust and wealth management income 4,391,806 4,044,932 
Merchant services income, net 4,061,549 3,703,001 
Cash management fee income 2,025,501 2,566,457 
Mortgage banking income 2,776,845 3,434,327 
Other(a) 3,103,233 3,471,748 
Total $ 19,312,208 $ 19,624,171  
(a) The Other category includes $133,318 and $328,680 of income sources that are within the scope of ASC 606 but determined immaterial as
of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively; the remaining balance of $2,969,915 and $3,143,068 is outside of the scope of ASC 606 as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

A description of the Company’s revenue streams accounted for under ASC 606 follows:

Service Charges on Deposit Accounts: The Company earns fees from its deposit customers for transaction-based,
account maintenance, and overdraft services.  Transaction-based fees are recognized at the time the transaction is executed
as that is the point in time the Company fulfills the customer’s request.  Account maintenance fees are earned over the
course of a month, representing the period over which the Company satisfies the performance obligation.  Overdraft fees
are recognized at the point in time that the overdraft occurs.  Service charges on deposits are withdrawn from the
customer’s account balance.   

ATM Fee Income: The Company earns interchange fees from debit cardholder transactions conducted through the
VISA payment network.  Interchange fees from cardholder transactions represent a percentage of the underlying
transaction value and are recognized daily, concurrently with the transaction processing services provided to the
cardholder.  

Merchant Services:  The Company earns interchange fees from customer debit and credit card transactions that are
earned at the time a cardholder engages in a transaction with a merchant as well as fees charged to merchants for
providing them the ability to accept and process the debit and credit card transactions.  Revenue is recognized when the
performance obligation has been met as it is satisfied upon the completion of the card transaction.  Additionally, revenue
recognition guidance requires costs associated with cardholder and merchant services transactions to be netted against the
fee income from such transactions when an entity is acting as an agent in providing services to customer.

Wealth Management Services: The Company earns wealth management fees from its contracts with trust and
brokerage customers to manage assets for investment, and/or to transact on their accounts.  These fees are earned as the
Company provides the contracted monthly or quarterly services and are generally assessed based on a tiered scale of the
market value of assets under management at month-end.  Fees that are transaction based, including trade execution
services, are recognized at the point in time that the transaction is executed, i.e. the “trade date”.  Other related services
provided include financial planning services, which are based on a fixed fee schedule, and are recognized when the services
are rendered.
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Cash Management: The Company earns fee income on accounts receivable financing relationships.  The Company
recognizes the fee income when the invoices are funded.

Mortgage Banking Income:  The Company earns revenues from both selling and servicing of consumer 1-4 family
mortgages sold to Freddie Mac.  The origination revenues are recognized when the loan is sold and funded by Freddie
Mac.  Servicing revenues are earned for maintaining the payment processing of the loan and are recognized each month
when the loan payment is processed.  

Gains/Losses on Sales of OREO:  The Company records a gain or loss from the sale of OREO when control of the
property transfers to the buyer, which generally occurs at the time of an executed deed.  When the Company finances the
sale of OREO to the buyer, the Company assesses whether the buyer is committed to perform their obligations under the
contract and whether collectability of the transaction price is probable.  Once these criteria are met, the OREO asset is
derecognized and the gain or loss on sale is recorded upon the transfer of control of the property to the buyer.  In
determining the gain or loss on the sale, the Company adjusts the transaction price and related gain (loss) on sale if a
significant financing component is present.

Based on the Company’s analysis, none of the contracts discussed above required a material cost to obtain or fulfill the
contract, which resulted in no capitalized assets associated with these contracts as of December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Note 17.  Earnings Per Common Share
The following data shows the amounts used in computing earnings per common share and the effect on the weighted

average number of shares of dilutive potential common stock.  The potential common stock did not have an impact on
net income.  Shares related to unvested restricted stock grants are included in the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding because the holders participate in non-refundable dividends and have voting rights during the vesting
period. All shares have been retroactively restated to give effect to the stock dividend described in Note 12.   

2021 2020

Weighted average number of common shares, basic 4,818,926 4,882,493 
Effect of dilutive stock options 14,289 23,359 
Weighted average number of common shares and dilutive
potential common stock used in diluted EPS 4,833,215 4,905,852  

There were no antidilutive options for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Note 18.  Financial Instruments with Off-Balance-Sheet Risk
The Bank is a party to credit related financial instruments with off-balance-sheet risk in the normal course of business

to meet the financial needs of its customers.  These financial instruments include commitments to extend credit, standby
letters of credit and commercial letters of credit.  Such commitments involve, to varying degrees, elements of credit and
interest rate risk in excess of the amount recognized in the consolidated balance sheets.

The Bank’s exposure to credit loss is represented by the contractual amount of these commitments.  The Bank follows
the same credit policies in making commitments as it does for on-balance-sheet instruments.

At December 31, 2021 and 2020, the following financial instruments were outstanding whose contract amounts
represent credit risk:

Contract Amount
2021 2020

(in thousands)

Commitments to grant loans $ 6,779 $ 7,525 
Unfunded commitments under lines of credit 173,525 165,623 
Commercial and standby letters of credit 6,312 197 
Cash management unfunded commitments 29,722 25,844  
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Commitments to extend credit are agreements to lend to a customer as long as there is no violation of any condition
established in the contract.  Commitments generally have fixed expiration dates or other termination clauses and may
require payment of a fee.  The commitments for lines of credit may expire without being drawn upon.  Therefore, the
total commitment amounts do not necessarily represent future cash requirements.  The amount of collateral obtained, if it
is deemed necessary by the Bank, is based on management’s credit evaluation of the customer.

Unfunded commitments under commercial lines of credit, revolving credit lines and overdraft protection agreements
are commitments for possible future extensions of credit to existing customers.  These lines of credit usually do not
contain a specified maturity date and may not be drawn upon to the total extent to which the Bank is committed.  The
amount of collateral obtained, if it is deemed necessary by the Bank, is based on management’s credit evaluation of the
customer.

Commercial and standby letters of credit are conditional commitments issued by the Bank to guarantee the
performance of a customer to a third party.  Those letters of credit are primarily issued to support public and private
borrowing arrangements.  Essentially all letters of credit issued have expiration dates within one year.  The credit risk
involved in issuing letters of credit is essentially the same as that involved in extending loan facilities to customers.  The
Bank generally holds collateral supporting those commitments, if deemed necessary.

The Company had no reserve for unfunded commitments recorded at December 31, 2021 and 2020.

The Company has invested in several funds primarily consisting of Small Business Investment Companies (SBIC)
and housing equity funds.  The unfunded commitment remaining on these funds totaled $6,136,400 and $4,957,000 as
of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.

CFS maintains its cash accounts in several correspondent banks.  The total amount by which cash on deposit in those
banks exceeds the federally insured limits is $3,371,164 at December 31, 2021.

Note 19.  Derivatives 
To mitigate exposure to interest costs, in May 2020, the Company purchased an interest rate cap with a rate of

0.75% and a 10-year term.  The instruments hedge was $50 million of FHLB borrowings maturing quarterly with similar
reset dates.  These borrowings are expected to be rolled quarterly, with its fixed rate set based on 3-month LIBOR.

Fair Value December 31,

Notational Amount 2021 2020

(in thousands)

Cap 1 - maturing April 2030 $ 50,000 $ 3,868 $2,367 

Remaining amortization of the premium on the interest rate caps is as follows:

(in thousands)

2022 $ 225 
2023 225 
2024 226 
2025 225 
2026 225 
Thereafter 733 

$ 1,859  

The Company recorded $225,414 and $148,835 for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, in
amortization associated with the interest rate cap.  Those expenses are reflected in the Consolidated Statements of Income
as a component of short-term debt and trust preferred capital notes interest expense.

The Company anticipates little to no ineffectiveness in this hedging relationship as long as the terms are matched at
each forecasted debt issuance.  The Company notes that the actual interest cost incurred at each rollover will be a function
of market rates at the time.  However, the Company is only hedging the benchmark interest rate risk in each rollover.

The Company does not use derivatives for trading or speculative purposes.
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Note 20.  Fair Value of Assets and Liabilities
Determination of Fair Value

CFS uses fair value measurements to record fair value adjustments to certain assets and liabilities and to determine fair
value disclosures.  The fair value of a financial instrument is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to
transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  Fair value is best
determined based upon quoted market prices.  However, in many instances, there are not quoted market prices for CFS's
various financial instruments.  In cases where quoted market prices are not available, fair values are based on estimates
using present value or other valuation techniques.  Those techniques are significantly affected by the assumptions used,
including the discount rate and estimates of future cash flows.  Accordingly, the fair value estimates may not be realized in
an immediate settlement of the instrument.

Fair value guidance provides a consistent definition of fair value, which focuses on exit price in an orderly transaction
(that is, not a forced liquidation or distressed sale) between market participants at the measurement date under current
market conditions.  If there has been a significant decrease in volume and level of activity for the asset or liability, a change
in valuation technique or the use of multiple valuation techniques may be appropriate.  In such instances, determining the
price at which willing market participants would transact at the measurement date under current market conditions
depends on the facts and circumstances and requires the use of significant judgment.  The fair value is a reasonable point
within the range that is most representative of fair value under current market conditions.

Fair Value Hierarchy

In accordance with this guidance, CFS groups its financial assets and financial liabilities generally measured at fair
value in three levels, based on the markets in which the assets and liabilities are traded and the reliability of the
assumptions used to determine fair value.

Level 1 - Valuation is based on quoted prices in active markets for identical assets and liabilities and generally includes
debt and equity securities that are traded in an active exchange market.  Valuations are obtained from readily available
pricing sources for market transactions involving identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 - Valuation is based on inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.  The valuation may be based on quoted prices for similar assets or
liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by
observable market data for substantially the full term of the asset or liability.

Level 3 - Valuation is based on unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are
significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.

A financial instrument's categorization within the valuation hierarchy is based upon the lowest level of input that is
significant to the fair value measurement.

The following methods and assumptions were used by CFS in estimating fair value disclosures for financial
instruments:

Cash and Cash Equivalents and Interest-Bearing Deposits in Banks
The carrying amounts of cash and short-term instruments approximate fair values based on the short-term nature of

the assets.

Securities
Securities available for sale are recorded at fair value on a recurring basis.  Fair value measurement is based upon

quoted market prices, when available (Level 1).  If quoted market prices are not available, fair values are measured utilizing
independent valuation techniques of identical or similar securities for which significant assumptions are derived primarily
from or corroborated by observable market data (Level 2).  If the inputs used to provide the evaluation for certain
securities are unobservable and/or there is little, if any, market activity then the security would fall to the lowest level of
the hierarchy (Level 3).



The Company’s investment portfolio is primarily valued using fair value measurements that are considered to be Level
2.  The Company has contracted with a third party portfolio accounting service vendor for valuation of its securities
portfolio.  The vendor’s primary source for security valuation is Interactive Data Corporation (“IDC”), which evaluates
securities based on market data.  IDC utilizes evaluated pricing models that vary by asset class and include available trade,
bid, and other market information.  Generally, the methodology includes broker quotes, proprietary modes, vast
descriptive terms and conditions databases, as well as extensive quality control programs.

The vendor utilizes proprietary valuation matrices for valuing all municipal securities.  The initial curves for
determining the price, movement, and yield relationships within the municipal matrices are derived from industry
benchmark curves or sourced from a municipal trading desk.  The securities are further broken down according to issuer,
credit support, state of issuance and rating to incorporate additional spreads to the industry benchmark curves.

The Company uses an independent valuation information source that draws on quantitative models and market data
contributed from over 4,000 market participants, to validate third party valuations.  Any material differences between
valuation sources are researched by further analyzing the various inputs that are utilized by each pricing source.

The carrying value of other investments, which include FRB and FHLB stock, approximates fair value based upon
the redemption provisions of each entity.

Loans Held For Sale
Loans held for sale include mortgage loans and are carried at the lower of cost or market value. The fair values of

mortgage loans held for sale are based on current market rates from investors within the secondary market for loans with
similar characteristics.  Carrying value approximates fair value.

Loans Receivable
Fair values for loans are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses, using market interest rates for comparable

loans.  Also included in the fair values for loans is a credit component adjustment.  Fair values for nonperforming loans
are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses or underlying collateral values, where applicable.

Cash Management Accounts
The carrying value of cash management accounts approximates their fair value.  The future cash flows from these

accounts are short-term in nature (less than 90 days) and the rate of return approximates current market rates.

Commercial Mortgage Loan Repurchase Facilities
The fair value of commercial mortgage loan repurchase facilities was determined using a discount cash flow

technique. Interest rates appropriate to the maturity and underlying collateral are used for discounting the estimated cash
flows. As observable market interest rates are used, the fair value of commercial mortgage loan repurchase facilities was
classified as Level 2.

Deposits
The fair values disclosed for demand deposits (for example, interest and noninterest checking, savings, and certain

types of money market accounts) are, by definition, equal to the amount payable on demand at the reporting date (that is,
their carrying amounts).  The carrying amounts of variable-rate, fixed-term money market accounts and certificates of
deposit, if any, approximate their fair values at the reporting date.  Fair values for fixed-rate certificates of deposit are
estimated using a discounted cash flow calculation that applies market interest rates on comparable instruments to a
schedule of aggregated expected monthly maturities on time deposits.

Short-Term Debt
The carrying amounts of short-term debt maturing within 90 days approximate their fair values.  Fair values of short-

term debt are estimated using discounted cash flow analyses based on current market rates and similar types of borrowing
arrangements.

Subordinated Notes and Trust Preferred Capital Notes
Current market rates for debt with similar terms and remaining maturities are used to estimate fair value of existing

debt.  Fair value of long-term debt is based on quoted market prices or dealer quotes for the identical liability when traded
as an asset in an active market.  If a quoted market price is not available, an expected present value technique is used to
estimate fair value.
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The fair value of the Company’s subordinated notes is estimated by utilizing recent issuance rates for subordinated
debt offerings of similar issuer size.

Accrued Interest
The carrying amounts of accrued interest approximate fair value.

Off-Balance-Sheet Credit-Related Instruments
Fair values for off-balance-sheet, credit-related financial instruments are based on fees currently charged to enter into

similar agreements, taking into account the remaining terms of the agreements and the counterparties' credit standings.

Derivative Asset
Derivative instruments held or issued by the Company for risk management purposes are trade in over-the-counter

markets.  For those derivatives, the Company measures fair value using models that use primarily market observable
inputs, such as yield curves and option volatilities, and include the value associated with counterparty credit risk.  The
Company classifies derivative instruments held or issued for risk management purposes as Level 2.  As of December 31,
2021, the Company’s derivative instrument consists solely of an interest rate cap.

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis
The following table presents the balances of financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis as of December

31, 2021 and 2020:
Fair Value Measurements

Quoted Prices Significant
in Active Other Significant

Markets for Observable Unobservable
Carrying Identical Assets Inputs Inputs

Description Value (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)
(in thousands)

December 31, 2021
Securitites available-for-sale:
US Treasury $ 11,937 $ — $ 11,937 $ — 
Securities of state and political subdivisions 373,296 — 373,296 — 
SBA loan pooled securities 2,872 — 2,872 — 
Mortgage-backed securities
Agency 62,948 — 62,948 — 
Non-agency 99,492 — 99,492 — 

Other debt securities 50,099 — 50,099 — 
600,644 — 600,644 — 

Interest rate cap 3,868 — 3,868 — 
Total assets at fair value $ 604,512 $ — $ 604,512 $ — 

December 31, 2020
Securities available-for-sale:
Securities of state and political subdivisions $ 275,045 — $ 275,045 $ — 
SBA loan pooled securities 2,091 — 2,091 —
Mortgage-backed securities
Agency 47,964 — 47,964 — 
Non-agency 86,120 — 82,912 3,208 

Other debt securities 42,955 — 42,955 — 
454,175 — 450,967 3,208

Interest rate cap 2,367 — 2,367 —
Total assets at fair value $ 456,542 $ —   $ 453,334 $ 3,208 
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The following tables present the changes in Level 3 assets that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis for the
years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020:

Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
Total Realized/Unrealized
Gains (Losses) Included in

Balance as of Other Purchases, Sales, Transfers Balance as of
December 31, Comprehensive Issuances, and in and/or December 31,

2020 Net Income Loss Settlements, Net out of Level 3 2021
(in thousands)

Mortgage-backed
securities non-agency $ 3,208 $ — $ — $ (3,208) $ — $ —  

Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs (Level 3)
Total Realized/Unrealized
Gains (Losses) Included in

Balance as of Other Purchases, Sales, Transfers Balance as of
December 31, Comprehensive Issuances, and in and/or December 31,

2019 Net Income Loss Settlements, Net out of Level 3 2020
(in thousands)

Mortgage-backed
securities non-agency $ 3,805 $ — $ (597) $ — $ — $ 3,208 

Assets Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis
Under certain circumstances, CFS makes adjustments to the fair value of certain assets and liabilities although they

are not measured at fair value on a recurring basis.  The following table presents assets carried on the consolidated balance
sheet by caption and by level in the fair value hierarchy at December 31, 2021 and 2020, for which a nonrecurring
change in fair value has been recorded:

Fair Value Measurements
at December 31, 2021 Using

(in thousands)
Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Impaired loans $ — $ — $ 1,869
Foreclosed assets — — 1,278 

Fair Value Measurements
at December 31, 2020 Using

(in thousands)
Quoted Prices

in Active Significant
Markets for Other Significant
Identical Observable Unobservable
Assets Inputs Inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3)

Impaired loans $ — $ — $ 1,757
Foreclosed assets — — 4,212 
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Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2021
Fair Value Valuation Weighted

(in thousands) Techniques Unobservable Inputs Average

Assets:
Impaired loans $ 1,869 Market comparables Discount applied to market comparables (1) 17.2%
Foreclosed assets 1,278 Market comparables Discount applied to market comparables (1) 35.6%
Total $ 3,147 

(1) A discount percentage is applied based on age of independent appraisals, selling costs, current market conditions, and experience within the local market.

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2020
Fair Value Valuation Weighted

(in thousands) Techniques Unobservable Inputs Average

Assets:
Impaired loans $ 1,757 Market comparables Discount applied to market comparables (1) 36.8%
Foreclosed assets 4,212 Market comparables Discount applied to market comparables (1) 26.2%
Total $ 5,969
(1) A discount percentage is applied based on age of independent appraisals, selling costs, current market conditions, and experience within the local market.

Impaired Loans
Loans are designated as impaired when, in the judgment of management based on current information and events, it

is probable that all amounts due according to the contractual terms of the loan agreements will not be collected.  The
measurement of loss associated with impaired loans can be based on either the observable market price of the loan or the
fair value of the collateral.  Collateral may be in the form of real estate or business assets including equipment, inventory,
and accounts receivable.  The vast majority of the Company’s collateral is real estate.  The value of real estate is determined
utilizing an income or market valuation approach based on an appraisal, of one year or less, conducted by an
independent, licensed appraiser using observable market data (Level 2).  However, if the collateral is a house or building in
the process of construction or if an appraisal of the property is more than one year old and not solely based on observable
market comparables, or management determines the fair value of the collateral is further impaired below the appraised
value, then a Level 3 valuation is considered to measure the fair value.  The value of business equipment is based upon an
outside appraisal, of one year or less, if deemed significant, or the net book value on the applicable business’s financial
statements if not considered significant using observable market data.  Likewise, values for inventory and accounts
receivables collateral are based on financial statement balances or aging reports (Level 3).  Impaired loans allocated to the
allowance for loan losses are measured at fair value on a nonrecurring basis.  Any fair value adjustments are recorded in the
period incurred as provision for loan losses on the Consolidated Statements of Income.

Foreclosed Assets
Fair values of foreclosed assets are carried at the lower of carrying value or fair value less selling costs.  Fair value is

based upon independent market prices, appraised values of the collateral, or management’s estimation of the value of the
collateral.  When the fair value of the collateral is based on an observable market price or a current appraised value, the
Company records the foreclosed asset as Level 2 valuation.  When an appraised value is not available or management
determines the fair value of the collateral is further impaired below the appraised value and there is no observable market
price, the Company records the foreclosed asset as Level 3 valuation.  Any fair value adjustments are recorded in the
period incurred as a foreclosed asset expense on the Consolidated Statements of Income.
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The estimated fair values, and related carrying or notional amounts, of CFS’s financial instruments are as follows:

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2021
Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable

Carrying Assets Inputs Inputs Total Fair
Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Value

Financial assets: (in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 20,790 $ 20,790 $ — $ — $ 20,790
Securities available for sale 600,644 — 600,644 — 600,644
Other investments 5,548 — — 5,548 5,548
Loans 666,222 — 650,965 1,869 652,834
Cash management accounts 27,804 — 31,594 — 31,594
Commercial mortgage loan
repurchasing facilities 5,084 — 5,066 — 5,066

Accrued interest receivable 6,254 — 6,254 — 6,254
Interest rate caps 3,868 — 3,868 — 3,868

Financial liabilities:
Deposits $ 1,124,972 $ — $ 1,127,198 $ — $ 1,127,198
Trust preferred capital notes 5,155 — 4,201 — 4,201
Short-term debt 99,046 — 99,037 — 99,037
Subordinated notes 20,000 — — 21,408 21,408
Accrued interest payable 113 — 113 — 113  

Fair Value Measurements at December 31, 2020
Quoted Prices in Significant
Active Markets Other Significant
for Identical Observable Unobservable

Carrying Assets Inputs Inputs Total Fair
Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Value

Financial assets: (in thousands)

Cash and cash equivalents $ 69,652 $ 69,652 $ — $ — $ 69,652
Securities available for sale 454,175 — 450,968 3,207 454,175
Other investments 4,215 — — 4,215 4,215
Loans 603,656 — 590,557 1,757 592,314
Cash management accounts 18,817 — 22,290 — 22,290
Accrued interest receivable 6,260 — 6,260 — 6,260
Interest rate caps 2,367 2,367 2,367

Financial liabilities:
Deposits $ 1,019,501 $ — $ 1,099,563 $ — $ 1,099,563
Trust preferred capital notes 5,155 — 3,982 — 3,982
Short-term debt 50,000 49,997 49,997
Accrued interest payable 198 — 198 — 198  

CFS assumes interest rate risk (the risk that general interest rate levels will change) as a result of its normal operations.  As a
result, the fair values of CFS's financial instruments will change when interest rate levels change and that change may be either
favorable or unfavorable to CFS.  Management attempts to match maturities of assets and liabilities to the extent believed
necessary to minimize interest rate risk.  However, borrowers with fixed rate obligations are less likely to prepay in a rising rate
environment and more likely to prepay in a falling rate environment.  Conversely, depositors who are receiving fixed rates are
more likely to withdraw funds before maturity in a rising rate environment and less likely to do so in a falling rate environment.
Management monitors rates and maturities of assets and liabilities and attempts to minimize interest rate risk by adjusting terms
of new loans and deposits and by investing in securities with terms that mitigate CFS's overall interest rate risk.
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Note 21.  Minimum Regulatory Capital Requirements
CFS and the Bank are subject to various regulatory capital requirements administered by the federal banking agencies.

Failure to meet minimum capital requirements can initiate certain mandatory, possibly additional discretionary, actions by
regulators that, if undertaken, could have a direct material effect on CFS’s financial statements.  Under capital adequacy
guidelines and the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action, financial institutions must meet specific capital
guidelines that involve quantitative measures of assets, liabilities, and certain off-balance-sheet items as calculated under
regulatory accounting practices.  A financial institution’s capital amounts and classification are also subject to qualitative
judgments by the regulators about components, risk weightings, and other factors.  Prompt corrective action provisions
are not applicable to bank holding companies.

The final rules implementing Basel Committee on Banking Supervision’s capital guidelines for U.S. banks (Basel
III rules) became effective for the Company on January 1, 2015 with full compliance of all requirements being phased in
over a multi-year schedule, and fully phased in by January 1, 2019.  The net unrealized gain or loss on available for sale
securities is not included in computing regulatory capital.  Management believes, as of December 31, 2021, the Company
and Bank meet all capital adequacy requirements to which they are subject.

Now fully phased in on January 1, 2019, the Basel III Capital Rules require the Company and the Bank to maintain
(i) a minimum ratio of Common Equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 4.5%, plus a 2.5% “capital
conservation buffer” (which is added to the 4.5% Common Equity Tier 1 capital ratio as that buffer is phased in,
effectively resulting in a minimum ratio of Common Equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 7.0% upon
full implementation), (ii) a minimum ratio of Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets of at least 6.0%, plus the capital
conservation buffer (which is added to the 6.0% Tier 1 capital ratio as that buffer is phased in, effectively resulting in a
minimum Tier 1 capital ratio of 8.5% upon full implementation), (iii) a minimum ratio of total capital (that is, Tier 1
plus Tier 2) to risk-weighted assets of at least 8.0%, plus the capital conservation buffer (which is added to the 8.0% total
capital ratio as that buffer is phased in, effectively resulting in a minimum total capital ratio of 10.5% upon full
implementation) and (iv) a minimum leverage ratio of 4.0%, calculated as the ratio of Tier 1 capital to average quarterly
assets.
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To Be Well
Capitalized Under

For Capital Prompt Corrective
Actual Adequacy Purposes Action Provisions

Amount Ratio Amount Ratio Amount Ratio

As of December 31, 2021:
Total Capital (to Risk-
Weighted Assets):
Company $ 148,327 15.2% $ 78,256 8.0% N/A
Bank $ 142,525 14.6% $ 78,041 8.0% $ 97,552 10.0%

Tier 1 Capital (to Risk-
Weighted Assets):
Company $ 120,107 12.3% $ 58,692 6.0% N/A
Bank $ 134,305 13.8% $ 58,530 6.0% $ 78,041 8.0%

Tier 1 Capital (to
Average Assets):
Company $ 120,107 8.9% $ 53,924 4.0% N/A
Bank $ 134,305 10.0% $ 53,616 4.0% $ 67,019 5.0%

Common Equity Tier 1
Capital (to Risk-Weighted
Assets)
Company $ 115,107 11.8% $ 44,019 4.5% N/A
Bank $ 134,305 13.8% $ 43,898 4.5% $ 63,408 6.5%

As of December 31, 2020:
Total Capital (to Risk-
Weighted Assets):
Company $ 120,227 15.2% $ 63,232 8.0% N/A
Bank $ 115,488 14.6% $ 63,068 8.0% $ 78,834 10.0%

Tier 1 Capital (to Risk-
Weighted Assets):
Company $ 111,011 14.0% $ 47,424 6.0% N/A
Bank $ 106,272 13.5% $ 47,301 6.0% $ 63,068 8.0%

Tier 1 Capital (to
Average Assets):
Company $ 111,011 9.4% $ 47,238 4.0% N/A
Bank $ 106,272 9.0% $ 47,018 4.0% $ 58,773 5.0%

Common Equity Tier 1
Capital (to Risk-Weighted
Assets)
Company $ 106,011 13.4% $ 35,568 4.5% N/A
Bank $ 106,272 13.5% $ 35,475 4.5% $ 51,242 6.5%



2 0 2 1  A N N U A L  R E P O R T
43

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 22.  Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income
Changes in each component of accumulated other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31, 2021

and 2020 were as follows: 
Unrealized Gains Unpaid Unrealized
on Available-for- Gains on Cash 
Sale Securities Flow Hedges Total

Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 16,433,375 $ 222,160 $ 16,655,535 
Other comprehensive income before reclassification (6,258,846) 1,363,894 (4,894,952)
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other 
comprehensive income (730,035) — (730,035)

Net current-period other comprehensive income (6,988,881) 1,363,894 (5,624,987)
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 9,444,494 $ 1,586,054 $ 11,030,548 

Balance at December 31, 2019 $ 6,307,681 $ — $ 6,307,681 
Other comprehensive income before reclassification 11,346,751 222,160 11,568,911 
Amounts reclassified from accumulated other 
comprehensive income (1,221,057) — (1,221,057)

Net current-period other comprehensive income 10,125,694 222,160 10,347,854 
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 16,433,375 $ 222,160 $ 16,655,535 

Details regarding reclassifications out of accumulated other comprehensive income for the years ended December 31,
2021 and 2020 were as follows:

Reclassifications Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended December 31, 2021:

Amount 
Reclassified Affected Line Item in the

Details about AOCI Components from AOCI Consolidated Income Statement

Realized gain on sale of securities $ 730,035 Net gain on sales of securities available for sale
Income tax expense (153,307) Income tax expense
Total reclassifications $ 576,728 Net of tax

Reclassifications Out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income for the Year Ended December 31, 2020:

Amount 
Reclassified Affected Line Item in the

Details about AOCI Components from AOCI Consolidated Income Statement

Realized gain on sale of securities $1,221,057  Net gain on sales of securities available for sale
Income tax expense (256,421) Income tax expense
Total reclassifications $ 964,636   Net of tax
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Note 23.  Condensed Parent Company Financial Statements
The following parent company accounting policies should be read in conjunction with the related condensed balance

sheets, statements of income, and statements of cash flows.

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.  The parent company and its
subsidiaries file a consolidated federal income tax return.  The subsidiaries' individual tax provisions and liabilities are
stated as if they filed separate returns and any benefits or detriments of filing the consolidated tax return are absorbed by
the parent company.

The parent company's principal assets are its investments in its wholly-owned subsidiaries. Dividends from the Bank
are the primary source of funds for the parent company.  The payment of dividends by the Bank is restricted by various
statutory limitations.  Banking regulations also prohibit extensions of credit by the Bank to the parent company unless
appropriately secured by assets.  As of December 31, 2021, the amount available for payment of additional dividends
without prior regulatory approval from the Bank to the parent company is $15,474,022 or 12.27% of consolidated net
assets.

Balance Sheets (Condensed)
December 31,

2021 2020

Assets
Cash $ 947,704 $ 610,266 
Investment in subsidiaries 148,242,862 125,252,974 
Premises and equipment, net 1,349,837 1,641,078 
Other assets 1,161,597 749,663 

Total assets $ 151,702,000 $ 128,253,981 

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity
Trust preferred capital notes $ 5,155,000 $ 5,155,000 
Subordinated notes 20,000,000 — 
Other liabilities 410,113 432,498 
Shareholders’ equity 126,136,887 122,666,483 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity $ 151,702,000 $ 128,253,981 

Statements of Income (Condensed)
2021 2020

Income: Dividends from subsidiaries $ 2,402,486 $ 5,604,434 
Other 759,087 706,953 

Total income $ 3,161,573 $ 6,311,387 

Expenses: Interest expense $ 406,186 $ 122,969 
Other expenses 1,654,079 1,241,288 

Total expenses $ 2,060,265 $ 1,364,257 

Income before income taxes and equity in undistributed earnings
of subsidiaries $ 1,101,308 $ 4,947,130 

Allocated income tax benefit (expense) 293,376 (72,827)
Income before equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries $ 1,394,684 $ 4,874,303 
Equity in undistributed earnings of subsidiaries 13,614,830 6,875,088 

Net income $ 15,009,514 $ 11,749,391 
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Statements of Cash Flows (Condensed) 
2021 2020

Cash Flows from Operating Activities 
Net income $ 15,009,514 $ 11,749,391 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash
provided by operating activities: 
Depreciation 82,041 80,439 
Equity in distributed earnings of subsidiaries (13,614,830) (6,875,088)
Stock-based compensation 349,416 345,905 
Issuance of common stock for services 195,034 167,087 
Changes in other assets and liabilities: 
(Increase) decrease in other assets (202,779) 251,412 
(Decrease) increase in other liabilities (22,385) 10,727 
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 1,796,011 $ 5,729,873 

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Purchases of premises and equipment $ — $ (201,750)
Capital contribution to the Bank (15,000,000) — 

Net cash used in investing activities $ (15,000,000) $ (201,750)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Issuance of subordinated notes $ 20,000,000 $ —   
Dividends paid (2,549,836) (2,440,290)
Repurchase of common stock (4,064,557) (3,139,928)
Exercise of stock options 155,820 193,270 

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities $ 13,541,427 $ (5,386,948)

Net increase in cash $ 337,438 $ 141,175 

Cash at beginning of year 610,266 469,091 

Cash at end of year $ 947,704 $ 610,266 
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Financial Overview: Chesapeake Financial Shares, Inc. (CFS or the “Company”) recorded net income of
$15,009,514 for 2021.  The return on average equity in 2021 was 11.87% and return on average assets was 1.14%
compared to 10.27% and 1.06%, respectively, in 2020.  At December 31, 2021, CFS had total assets of $1.4 billion,
which was an increase of 15.0% when compared to December 31, 2020.  The Company ended 2021 with total gross
loans of $663.6 million, and total deposits of $1.1 billion, an increase of 20.3% and 10.4%, respectively.   

With the passage of the Paycheck Protection Program (“PPP”), administered by the Small Business Administration
(“SBA”), the Company was able to originate 968 loans totaling $76.9 million in 2020 and 473 loans totaling $36 million
in 2021.  In total, the Company received $4.9 million in fees from the SBA for originating the loans of which $777,003
were recognized into income in 2020 and $4,043,657 in 2021.  Loans funded through this program are guaranteed by
the SBA and loans that meet regulatory criteria are subject to forgiveness.  As of December 31, 2021, 19 loans totaling
$2.7 million with $97,433 in origination fees remain awaiting forgiveness by the SBA.  Data in the following discussion
excludes the PPP loans unless otherwise stated.

The current economic environment continued to cause competitive pricing pressures on loans.  Despite the pressures
mentioned, loan volume was up $111.9 million for 2021, which brought the average annual loan growth rate for the last
5 years to 8.1%.  Total past due and nonaccrual loans decreased by $1.4 million from December 31, 2020 to December
31, 2021.  The loan loss reserve to non-PPP gross loans less unearned discounts decreased to 1.0% as of December 31,
2021 compared to 1.3% as of December 31, 2020.  The deposit increase of 10.4% for 2021 brought the average annual
deposit growth rate for the last 5 years to 13.1%.  

Summary of Results of Operations: Net income for 2021 was $15,009,514, or $3.11 per share (fully diluted)
compared to $11,749,391 or $2.40 per share in 2020, an increase of $3,260,123.  Net interest income before the
provision for loan losses was up 24.0% from 2020.  There was a 1.6% or $311,963 decrease in noninterest income,
mostly due to the continued impact COVID-19 had on our cash management program, and noninterest expense
increased by 17.6% or $6,563,293 in 2021 over 2020.  Cash management income decreased from 2020 by $540,956, or
26.7%.  Trust income and wealth management fees increased $346,874 in 2021 over 2020, or 8.6%.  In addition to these
factors, management also recognized gains on the sale of investment securities of $730,035.    

Assets  

Loan Portfolio: The loan portfolio is the largest component of earning assets for the Company and accounts for the
greatest portion of total interest income.  The gross loan portfolio totaled $663.6 million and $551.7 million as of
December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, representing an increase of 20.3% year over year.  Commercial loans
(including real estate and non-real estate combined) were up 23.7% or $107.9 million while residential and consumer
loan balances were up 4.1% or $3.6 million and 4.2% or $0.3 million, respectively, at December 31, 2021 compared to
December 31, 2020.  

On December 31, 2021, the loan portfolio consisted of 84.8% commercial loans, 13.9% single-family residential and
residential construction loans, and 1.3% consumer and other loans.  Commercial loans consisted primarily of business
loans such as owner-occupied commercial development, retail, builders/contractors, medical, service and professional,
hospitality, nonprofits, marine industry, and a small portion of agricultural and seafood loans.   

At the beginning of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company offered a 90-day payment deferral program to its
consumer and small business customers.  A total of 324 customers totaling $173,319,571 in loans took advantage of the
deferral program.  As of December 31, 2020 there were no loans remaining on deferral.  Subsequently the Company
granted a 90-day interest only period to 17 customers totaling $40.6 million.  As of December 31, 2021, no customers
remain on interest only.  Section 4013 of the CARES Act addressed COVID-19 related modifications and specified that
such modifications made on loans that were current as of December 31, 2019 are not TDRs.  In accordance with
interagency guidance issued in April 2020, these short-term modifications made to a borrower affected by the COVID-19
pandemic and governmental shutdown orders do not need to be identified as TDRs if the loans were current at the time a
modification plan was implemented.
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Total nonperforming assets consisted of nonaccrual loans, performing restructured loans, repossessed and foreclosed
properties, and other real estate owned.  Nonperforming assets were $6,736,507 at December 31, 2021, which
represented a 76.8% decrease from $11,911,383 at December 31, 2020.  Past due loans over 30 days, excluding
nonaccrual, totaled $1,143,230 and $2,450,982 as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively.  Nonaccrual loans were
$2.0 million or 0.3% of total loans at December 31, 2021.  On December 31, 2020, nonaccrual loans totaled $2.1
million or 0.2% of total loans.  

Investment Securities: All of CFS's debt securities are classified as securities available for sale and are carried at fair
market value.  Debt securities may be classified as investment securities (held to maturity) when management has the
intent and CFS has the ability at the time of purchase to hold the securities to maturity.  Securities available for sale
include securities that may be sold in response to changes in market interest rates, changes in the securities option or
credit risk, increases in loan demand, general liquidity needs and other similar factors.

The fair market value of the portfolio was $11,955,055 greater than amortized cost at December 31, 2021, and was
$20,801,741 more than amortized cost at December 31, 2020.  This is within risk limits established by the Board of
Directors and the Asset/Liability Management Committee.

At December 31, 2021, total securities at fair market value were $600.6 million, up $146.4 million from $454.2
million on December 31, 2020.  Investments in US treasury securities increased $11.9 million, or 100%.  Investments in
SBA loans pooled securities increased $0.8 million, or 37.4%.  Investments in securities of state and political subdivisions
increased by $98.3 million, or 35.7%.  Investments in mortgage-backed securities increased by $28.4 million, or 21.1%.
Other domestic debt securities increased by $7.1 million, or 16.6%.

Asset Quality-Provision/Allowance for Loan Losses: The provision for loan losses is a charge against earnings
necessary to maintain the allowance for loan losses at a level consistent with management's evaluation of the credit quality
and risk adverseness of the loan portfolio.  The allowance for loan losses represents management’s estimate of the amount
adequate to provide for potential losses inherent in the loan portfolio.  To achieve this goal, the loan loss provision must
be sufficient to cover loans charged off plus any growth in the loan portfolio and recognition of specific loan impairments.
In determining the adequacy of the allowance for loan losses, management uses a methodology which specifically
identifies and reserves for higher risk loans.  Loans in a nonaccrual status and over 90 days past due are considered in this
evaluation as well as other loans, which may be a potential loss.  The status of nonaccrual and past due loans varies from
quarter to quarter based on seasonality, local economic conditions, and the cash flow of customers.  A general reserve is
established for nonspecifically reserved loans.  

During 2020, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, Management felt it necessary to increase reserves due to several
qualitative factors including unemployment and borrower concentrations related to the hotel/motel industry.  Due to
overall economic improvements, Management released $400,004 in reserves during the period.

The allowance for loan losses was $6,793,400, or 1.0% during the period, of non-PPP gross loans at December 31,
2021 compared to 1.3% at December 31, 2020.  The table below represents the provision for loan losses taken in years
2021 and 2020 as well as loans charged off and subsequent recoveries.

2021 2020

Provision for (reversal of ) loan losses $ (400,004) $ 1,949,996
Loans charged off 153,850 622,074
Recoveries 115,533 878,044 

Management and the Board of Directors believe that the total allowance at December 31, 2021 was adequate relative
to current levels of risk in the portfolio.  However, continued loan growth or increases in specific problem loans may
warrant additional provisions in the future.

Foreclosed Assets: As of December 31, 2021, the Bank held $1,278,062 in foreclosed assets.  These assets are
being actively marketed through real estate channels and represent near term secondary sources of liquidity.  The
Company was able to dispose of three other real estate owned properties during 2021 totaling $2.9 million resulting in a
net loss of $399,989. 
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Liabilities  

Deposits: CFS depends on deposits to fund most of its lending activities, generate fee income opportunities, and
create a market for other financial service products.  Deposits are also the largest component of CFS’s liabilities and
account for the greatest portion of interest expense.

Deposits totaled $1.1 billion and $1.0 billion, as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, respectively, and represented an
increase of 10.4% for December 31, 2021 over December 31, 2020.  The below table represents a breakdown of total
deposits.

Percent
2021 2020 Change Change

Demand accounts $ 313,857,448 $ 267,473,159 $ 46,384,289 17.3%
Savings and interest bearing deposits 671,804,955 578,220,464 93,584,491 16.2%
Certificates of deposit 139,309,104 173,806,922 (34,497,818) (19.85%)
Total deposits $ 1,124,971,507 $ 1,019,500,545 $ 105,470,962 10.35%

Net Interest Income:  The principal source of earnings for CFS is net interest income.  Net interest income is the
difference between interest plus fees generated by earning assets and interest expense paid to fund those assets.  As such,
net interest income represents the gross profit from the Bank's lending, investment, and funding activities. 

A large number of variables interact to affect net interest income.  Included are variables such as changes in the mix
and volume of earning assets and interest bearing liabilities, and market interest rates.  It is management's ongoing policy
to maximize net interest income through the development of balance sheet and pricing strategies while maintaining
appropriate risk levels as set by the Board of Directors. 

Net interest income totaled $41.6 million and $33.5 million, for 2021 and 2020, respectively, representing an
increase of 24.0% for 2021 over 2020 and 13.5% for 2020 over 2019.  Total interest income was $44.9 million and
$38.6 million for 2021 and 2020, respectively.  Included in interest income were SBA origination fees totaling $4.0
million and $0.8 million for 2021 and 2020, respectively.  Total interest expense was $3.3 million and $5.1 million for
2021 and 2020, respectively.  On a consolidated tax equivalent annualized basis, the 2021 net interest margin was 3.8%.   

Noninterest Income: For the year ended December 31, 2021, noninterest income was $19.3 million.  This represents
a decrease in noninterest income of $311,963 for the year.  One of the contributors to the decline in noninterest income was
our cash management program, which was directly affected by the COVID-19 pandemic, along with a decrease in mortgage
banking income.  Conversely, our merchant services program is beginning to recover from the negative impact the COVID-
19 pandemic had on the program in 2020.  Furthermore, the Company had an increase in trust and wealth management
income and interchange income. Changes in noninterest income categories are highlighted below.

Percent
2021 2020 Change Change

Trust and wealth management income $ 4,391,806 $ 4,044,932 $ 346,874 8.6%
Service charges 770,347 776,790 (6,443) (0.8%)
Net gain on sales of securities available for sale 730,035 1,221,057 (491,022) (40.2%)
Mortgage banking income 2,776,845 3,434,327 (657,482) (19.1%)
Merchant services income, net 4,061,549 3,703,001 358,548 9.7%
Cash management fee income 2,025,501 2,566,457 (540,956) (21.1%)
Interchange income 2,182,927 1,626,915 556,012 34.2%
Other income 2,373,198 2,250,692 122,506 5.4%
Total noninterest income $ 19,312,208 $ 19,624,171 $ (311,963) (1.6%)

Noninterest income represented 30.0% of the total gross revenue for the Company.  Sources of noninterest income
include the Company’s merchant processing services (Chesapeake Payment Systems), accounts receivable financing
(Flexent), wealth management and trust services (Chesapeake Wealth Management) and mortgage banking income.  
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Noninterest Expenses: Total noninterest expenses increased 17.6%, or $6.6 million in 2021 over 2020.  A large
component to the increase in noninterest expense was due to $1.6 million in additional provision taken for cash
management account losses to replenish the reserve after charging off a $2.3 million relationship.  Software expense also
increased $0.9 million and other expense by $0.8 million.  Below is a breakdown of other expenses for 2021 over 2020.

Percent 
2021 2020 Change Change

Provision for cash management account losses $ 1,845,000 $ 290,000 $ 1,555,000 536.2%
Advertising 1,412,661 989,792 422,869 42.7%
Software 3,007,784 2,110,726 897,058 42.5%
Professional fees 1,836,116 1,456,795 379,321 26.0%
Debit card expense 802,989 824,226 (21,237) (2.6%)
Franchise tax 866,471 748,475 117,996 15.8%
Contributions 614,038 404,559 209,479 51.8%
Exam and audit 298,318 401,216 (102,898) (25.6%)
Legal fees 508,080 348,634 159,446 45.7%
FDIC assessments 349,753 274,788 74,965 27.3%
Delivery and transportation 286,960 277,335 9,625 3.5%
Stationery and supplies 233,766 251,647 (17,881) (7.1%)
Other 4,014,372 3,177,904 836,468 26.3%
Total noninterest expenses $ 16,076,308 $ 11,556,097 $ 4,520,211 39.1% 

Liquidity, Interest Rate Sensitivity, and Inflation: The objectives of CFS's liquidity management policy include
providing adequate funds to meet the needs of depositors and borrowers at all times, as well as providing funds to meet
the basic needs for ongoing operations of CFS, and to allow funding of longer-term investment opportunities and
regulatory requirements.  The objective of providing adequate funding should be accomplished at reasonable costs and on
a timely basis.  At December 31, 2021, management considers CFS's liquidity to be more than adequate.

The Company obtains funding from a variety of sources, including customer deposits and certificates of deposit, and
payments on our loans and investments.  In addition, the Company maintains lines of credit with the FHLB of Atlanta
and various other correspondent banks.  Bank management maintains overnight borrowing relationships with
correspondent banks for up to $257.2 million, secured and unsecured.  CFS has access to an additional secured borrowing
relationship of $5.0 million. 

Since the assets and liabilities of a bank are primarily monetary in nature (payable in fixed, determinable amounts),
the performance of a bank is affected more by changes in interest rates than by inflation.  Interest rate sensitivity refers to
the difference between assets and liabilities subject to repricing, maturity, or volatility during a specified period.
Management’s objective in controlling interest rate sensitivity is to reprice loans and deposits and make investments that
will maintain a profitable net interest margin (see “Net Interest Income”).  The Company’s Asset-Liability Committee
(“ALCO”) meets regularly and is responsible for reviewing the interest rate sensitivity position and establishing policies
and strategies to monitor and limit exposure.  In an effort to lock in incremental net interest income dollars, ALCO
purchased $50 million in municipal investments during 2020, which were funded with a 3-month borrowing from the
FHLB.  An interest rate cap was purchased to limit the interest expense over 10 years to 75 basis points.  

While the effect of inflation is normally not as significant as its influence on those businesses that have large
investments in plant and inventories, it does have an effect.  There are normally corresponding increases in the money
supply, and banks will normally experience above average growth in assets, loans and deposits.  Also, general increases in
the prices of goods and services will result in increased operating expenses.

Shareholders' Equity: Capital represents funds, earned or obtained, over which management can exercise greater
control in comparison with deposits and borrowed funds.  Future growth and expansion of CFS is dictated by the ability
to produce capital.  The adequacy of CFS's capital is reviewed by management and the Board of Directors on an ongoing
basis with reference to the size, composition and quality of CFS's asset and liability levels and consistent with regulatory
requirements and industry standards.  Management seeks to maintain a capital structure that assures an adequate level to
support anticipated asset growth and absorb potential losses. 
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The federal regulatory bodies jointly issued a final rule that allows banks to apply a simplified measure of capital
adequacy, the Community Bank Leverage Ratio framework, for qualifying community banking organizations, consistent
with Section 201 of the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief, and Consumer Protection Act.  The final rule became
effective on January 1, 2020.  Management made the decision to not elect the framework and instead continues to report
all regulatory capital ratios on a quarterly basis.  The Company’s capital position as of December 31, 2021 is consistent
with being well-capitalized under the regulatory framework for prompt corrective action.  

On June 15, 2021 CFS issued $20 million in subordinated debt instruments.  The notes have a 10-year maturity and
the interest rate is fixed for the first 5 years at 3.25% and after year 5 the rate becomes floating at 3-month SOFR plus
260 basis points.  The notes are also callable after year 5.  Management and Board of Directors decided to issue the debt
to provide for future growth of the company.  Most of the $20 million was down streamed to the Bank and counts as tier
1 capital.  At the holding company level the debt counts as tier 2 capital.

The table below represents CFS’s capital ratios as of December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020.  

2021 2020

Total capital to risk-weighted assets 15.2% 15.2%
Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 12.3% 14.0%
Tier 1 capital to average assets 8.9% 9.4%
Common equity tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets 11.8% 13.4% 

Dividend and Market Information:  The Company’s stock trades on the “OTC” (Over the Counter) market
under the symbol “CPKF”.   The Company has increased its dividend payment annually for more than 30 years.  The
Company raised its dividend to $0.53 per share in 2021, an increase of $0.03 over 2020.  Trades in the Company's
common stock occurred infrequently and generally involved a relatively small number of shares.  Based on information
available, the selling price for the Company's common stock during 2021 ranged from $21.50 to $30.20, and during
2020, from $14.51 to $24.35.  Such transactions may not be representative of all transactions during the indicated
periods of the fair value of the stock at the time of such transactions due to the infrequency of trades and the limited
market for the stock.  Management attributes the Company’s ability to maintain stable share prices, during hard economic
times, to its earnings over the past several years.  At December 31, 2021, there were 4,729,475 shares of the Company’s
common stock outstanding held by approximately 241 holders of record.  The Board of Directors of CFS approved the
purchase and retirement of up to $5 million of CFS stock in 2021 of which $3.8 million were executed upon. 
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Thomas E. Kellum
President
W. Ellery Kellum, Inc.

Douglas D. Monroe, Jr. 
Chairman Emeritus 
Chesapeake Bank

Thomas G. Tingle, AIA
President
GuernseyTingle 
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W. Bruce Sanders
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Nancy H. Dykeman, CPA
Joseph F. Fary
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S. Brian Kirschbaum
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E. Hatcher Crenshaw III
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John H. Hunt II
April 25, 1947 – March 4, 2021

John Hunt, Director of Chesapeake Financial Shares, Inc. 
2015–2021, died on March 4.  John was Chief Financial 

Officer of Chesapeake and its subsidiaries for the majority 
of his 40-year tenure.  Prior to becoming CFO he managed 
the company’s Information Technology and Operations 
departments.  John was a 1969 graduate of Virginia 
Polytechnic Institute and State University with a degree in 
business.  Additionally, in 1988 he completed The Executive 

Program at The Darden 
School at the University 
of Virginia.  John began 
his financial services 
career with Chesapeake 
in 1979, and he retired 
in 2020 as an Executive 
Vice President.  Under 
his expertise the company 
prospered, and American 
Banker magazine named 
Chesapeake Bank one of 

the “Top 200 Community Banks” in the United States based 
on earnings for twelve consecutive years.  While he was a 
member of the company’s senior management, Chesapeake 
was named one of the “Best Banks to Work For” for seven 
straight years by the same publication.  Chesapeake was 
fortunate that John agreed to continue to serve on the CFS 
Board of Directors after his retirement.

John was extremely devoted to his wife, Page Gravatt Hunt, 
and their family.  One of John’s favorite pastimes was boating 
with them.  Active in the community, John held numerous 
social and civic leadership roles some of which include multiple 
terms as treasurer and as president of Foundation for Historic 
Christ Church; he led the Grace Episcopal Church Trust and 
served on several committees; he was commodore and an active 
member of Virginia Yacht Club and Indian Creek Yacht Club; 
and he was involved in the establishment of River Counties 
Community Foundation and of Steamboat Era Museum.  
Additionally, John served on the Northern Neck Insurance 
Company board of directors, including a term as chairman.   

He helped Chesapeake achieve and maintain its current firm 
position of financial leadership.  John was a true pillar of 
the community and the consummate gentleman, and he is 
missed by all.

Robert Lee Stephens, Sr.
July 23, 1932 – December 19, 2021

Bob Lee Stephens, longtime owner and operator of The 
Tides Inn resort and retired Chesapeake Bank and 

Chesapeake Financial Shares, Inc. Director, died on December 
19.  Bob Lee was a dedicated Director of Chesapeake Bank 
1976–2000 and a distinguished CFS Director 1985–2005.  
With his extensive knowledge of the community and 
business, he held key leadership positions including serving 
on Chesapeake’s Board Loan, Board Loan Review, Audit, and 
Personnel/Stock Option Committees.  Chesapeake prospered 
under Bob Lee’s governance.

The Tides Inn thrived under his leadership as well.  Bob 
Lee’s father built and opened the resort in 1947.  After Bob 
Lee’s graduation from the University of Virginia in 1954 
and marriage to Elynor “Suzy” Neblett in 1955, he began 
his journey of entrepreneurship at The Tides Inn. The 
resort earned its first 5-Star award, then one of just seven 
nationwide, ultimately retaining the honor for consecutive 
years 1970–1979.  Bob Lee was a leader in the hospitality 
industry, and he was elected to serve as chairman of the 
American Hotel & Lodging Association and president of the 
Southern Innkeepers Association.  In 1993 he was recognized 
as “Resort Executive of the Year,” the most prestigious award 
in the industry.

Committed to his family and active in community life,  
Bob Lee and Suzy were instrumental in establishing 
Chesapeake Academy 
(which their four children 
attended) as the Northern 
Neck’s premier elementary 
school.  Bob Lee also 
served as chairman of the 
board of St. Margaret’s 
School for nine years, 
on the board of the 
Church Schools in the 
Diocese of Virginia and 
the board and advisory 
council of Woodberry Forest School, as well as the boards of 
Rappahannock Westminster-Canterbury Foundation and the 
Chesapeake Bay Foundation. 

Bob Lee was a true Southern gentleman and an inspiration 
to us all. 

I n  M e m o r y  o f 
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